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Message to
Shareholders
The global economic collapse in late 2008 carried over into the first half of 2009.
Needless to say, this had a devastating effect on the demand for all forest products
and resulted in significant declines in pricing and negative EBITDA margins for
the Company’s major commodities. Due to the very poor business climate and
unacceptable financial results, the Company took unprecedented steps to reduce
costs and working capital.

FOREST PRODUCTS
The lumber industry, already suffering from a poor U.S. housing market due to the sub-prime mortgage
problems, experienced even more extensive reductions in demand and price as the recession and credit
crisis devastated the home building industry. As housing starts dropped below a half million per year in
the U.S., a significant repositioning was taking place in the supply chain. Distributors servicing the home
builders consolidated lumber yards into fewer locations and virtually all customers downstream of the
sawmills drastically reduced inventories to align with the outlook for new home construction. This overall
inventory reduction and the actual decline in demand hit lumber producers hard in early 2009 and forced
pricing into negative margin territory for virtually all companies.
Tembec significantly adjusted its lumber production in 2009 by balancing contribution margins with chip
requirements and shutdown costs. Additionally, the Company has revised its approach to lumber sales by
taking advantage of its superior quality versus the pine beetle product coming out of the North and Central
Interior of British Columbia and by leveraging its FSC certification. These actions reduced the losses by
the Forest Products Group by the end of the September 2009 quarter.
A very modest recovery in U.S. housing starts in 2010 is anticipated by most companies involved in the
lumber business. For this reason, inventories of product remain very lean throughout the supply chain.
The sawmill sector is operating significantly below capacity and log inventories and harvesting plans reflect
these lower levels of production. The Company does not expect any significant improvement in 2010 as
reflected in its plans. However, a surprise upside in demand would prove very challenging for the supply
chain and given the lean inventories, could result in an unexpected improvement in price.

Message to Shareholders

PULP
Throughout the first half of calendar 2008, the Company’s paper pulp and specialty dissolving pulp
business experienced relatively robust demand and a positive pricing environment. Precipitated by
the credit crisis, this changed dramatically in the last three months of 2008. A deep global recession
reduced downstream demand for the Company’s pulp products, and the credit crisis forced all those
in the supply chain to manage working capital aggressively and reduce inventories. This resulted in a
record decline in the Company’s order backlog and continued into the first half of 2009.
As a result of the collapse in pulp demand, global inventories rose to near record levels in the first
half of calendar 2009 and prices declined to the point where most mills in the Northern Hemisphere
had negative margins. During that period, we saw an unprecedented amount of temporary, indefinite
and permanent downtime in pulp mills around the world. Tembec was no exception taking downtime
in all pulp mills at some various points throughout that period. The result of the downtime by the
pulp industry and destocking by downstream customers has led to low global inventories and a
positive demand and pricing environment to start the Company’s new fiscal year.
PAPER
The newsprint industry has been in a state of structural demand decline for its product since the
start of the decade. The 2008/2009 recession exacerbated this structural decline by causing a
cyclical decline. Despite significant capacity closure over the last several years and temporary
curtailments, the newsprint market was over-supplied in 2009, leading to a price collapse in this
sector and negative margins for most North American mills in the second half of the year. The
Company took significant curtailments at both newsprint mills in response to these market conditions.
The Company was unable to successfully negotiate a new collective agreement at the Pine Falls
newsprint facility which resulted in a lockout in September 2009. At this time, the Company is
reviewing the future plans for this operation given the challenging outlook for this sector.
The Company’s coated bleached paperboard mill performed very well in 2009. Despite the decline
in demand for this product in North America, aggressive downtime by producers prevented the
collapse in price as seen in our other sectors. The business also benefited from a decline in major
input costs including pulp and chemicals. A balanced market is anticipated for this sector in 2010,
but higher pulp prices will likely negatively impact costs.
CHEMICALS
The Chemical Products Group experienced a significant decline in demand for its products as a result
of the recession, except for ethanol. The Group was profitable throughout the year despite the
challenges and generated solid financial results. Significant strides were made to improve the margins
in lignosulfonate and resin products despite a nearly 50% reduction in demand. The Group is well
positioned for a recovery in demand.
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COST REDUCTION
The extremely challenging business conditions and poor financial results in 2009 caused the Company to
take aggressive action to reduce costs. Despite dramatic declines in SG&A expense over the last three
years, additional reductions were made. Staff reductions were made at all levels and in all departments of
the organization. Difficult decisions were also made to implement temporary staff layoffs at operations
where curtailments occurred, and a staff salary freeze was implemented throughout the organization as
well as changes to certain pension plans.
An aggressive cost reduction plan was implemented with the Company’s suppliers and service providers
to reduce prices by 10-20%. We were very pleased with the response of the majority of Tembec’s
suppliers. These reductions had a significant positive impact on SG&A and mill operating costs.
STRATEGIC REVIEW
The Company’s Board of Directors has actively engaged management on a strategic review of Tembec’s
portfolio of businesses. The purpose of the process is to create a more profitable and focused Company
which will generate greater returns for shareholders. The review will also result in certain actions which
will allow the Company to maintain and enhance liquidity throughout this challenging period for the forest
products industry. The Company is actively pursuing a number of strategic and liquidity enhancing projects.
Periodic announcements will be forthcoming in this regard.
SUMMARY
The financial results for fiscal 2009 are unacceptable regardless of the economic circumstances. Aggressive
measures are being implemented to ensure that the results for 2010 will be vastly improved. While a more
positive economic environment will contribute to this improvement, the Company will focus on those
things it can control both operationally and strategically to produce better financial results.

JAMES M. LOPEZ
President and Chief Executive Officer

Management’s
Discussion and Analysis
as at November 27, 2009

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) section provides a review of the significant
developments and issues that influenced Tembec Inc.’s financial performance during the fiscal year ended
September 26, 2009 as compared to the fiscal year ended September 27, 2008. The MD&A should be
read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended
September 26, 2009. All references to quarterly or Company information relate to Tembec Inc.’s fiscal
quarters. EBITDA, net debt, total capitalization, free cash flow and certain other financial measures utilized
in the MD&A are non-GAAP (Generally Accepted Accounting Principles) financial measures. As they have
no standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP, they may not be comparable to similar measures presented
by other companies.

The MD&A includes “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of securities laws. Such statements relate to the
Company’s or management’s objectives, projections, estimates,
expectations or predictions of the future and can be identified
by words such as “anticipate”, “estimate”, “expect”, “will” and
“project” or variations of such words. These statements are based
on certain assumptions and analyses made by the Company in
light of its experience and its perception of future developments.
Such statements are subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties, including, but not limited to, changes in foreign
exchange rates, product selling prices, raw material and operating
costs and other factors identified in our periodic filings with
securities regulatory authorities. Many of these risks are beyond
the control of the Company and, therefore, may cause actual
actions or results to materially differ from those expressed or
implied herein. The Company disclaims any intention or obligation
to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as
a result of new information, future events or otherwise. The
information in the MD&A is at November 27, 2009. Disclosure
contained in this document is current to that date, unless
otherwise stated.

Throughout the MD&A, “Tembec” or “Company” means Tembec Inc.
and its consolidated subsidiaries and investments. “Marathon”
refers to the Company’s 50% participation in Marathon Pulp Inc.,
which operated a northern bleached softwood kraft (NBSK) pulp
mill in Marathon, Ontario. This investment was accounted for by
the proportionate consolidation method. On February 13, 2009,
Marathon filed a notice of intention to make a proposal under the
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act. As a result of the filing, the
Company concluded that it had lost joint control over Marathon
and ceased to apply the proportionate consolidation method to
account for its 50% interest in the joint venture. As the
Company’s proportionate share of net liabilities exceeded the net
assets by $4 million, a gain was recorded. “Temlam” refers to the
Company’s 50% participation in Temlam Inc., which operated
laminated veneer lumber (LVL) plants in Ville-Marie and Amos,
Quebec and wood I-beam manufacturing plants in Calgary, Alberta,
Bolton, Ontario and Blainville, Quebec. On September 15, 2008,
Temlam Inc. and Jager Building Systems Inc., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Temlam Inc., made voluntary assignments in
bankruptcy. As a result of these filings, the Company concluded
that it had lost joint control over Temlam Inc. and ceased to apply
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the proportionate consolidation method to account for its
50% interest in Temlam Inc. “Temrex” refers to the Company’s
50% participation in Produits Forestiers Temrex Limited
Partnership, which operates two sawmills in the Gaspé region of
Quebec. On September 25, 2009, the Company completed the
sale of its 50% equity interest in Temrex for $11 million. The sale
generated a gain of $5 million, which is included in the Forest
Products segment’s operating results.
Tembec’s operations consist of four reportable business
segments: Forest Products, Pulp, Paper, and Chemicals. On
September 26, 2009, Tembec had approximately 5,600 employees,
as compared to 7,000 at the end of the prior fiscal year. The
Company operated manufacturing facilities in Quebec, Ontario,
Manitoba, British Columbia, the State of Ohio as well as in
Southern France. Principal facilities are described in the
subsequent sections of the MD&A.
On February 29, 2008, the Company completed a major financial
recapitalization of its balance sheet by means of a “plan of
arrangement”. The principal element of the recapitalization was
the conversion of US $1.2 billion of senior unsecured notes into
95% of the common equity of the Company. In accordance with
Section 1625 of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(CICA), Comprehensive Revaluation of Assets and Liabilities,
Tembec applied fresh start accounting as at February 29, 2008.
For purposes of the MD&A, reported sales and EBITDA were
relatively unaffected and remain directly comparable to prior
periods, as the Company’s physical operations were not impacted
by the financial recapitalization. However, a $804 million
reduction in the carrying value of fixed assets did lead to an
annual depreciation expense reduction of approximately
$78 million, of which $46 million was recorded in fiscal 2008,
decreasing the reported operating loss by the same amount. The
impact of this reduction on each of the Company’s business
segments is outlined in subsequent sections of the MD&A.
Details regarding the financial recapitalization are included in
note 1 of the audited consolidated financial statements.
In July 2007, the Company indefinitely idled its coated paper
facility in St. Francisville, Louisiana. As this operation was the only
coated paper facility owned by the Company, its financial results
were classified as discontinued operations. On April 15, 2009,
the Company sold the mill site and production equipment for total

consideration of US $16 million. As a result, the Company generated
a pre-tax gain of $16 million and an after-tax gain of $10 million.
The Company continues to incur “legacy” costs related to pension
and healthcare benefits for past employees. As the legacy
obligations are denominated in US dollars, the relative value of
the Canadian dollar versus the US dollar may give rise to periodic
foreign currency gains or losses. These items continue to be
included in discontinued operations.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
In January 2009, the CICA Emerging Issues Committee issued
Abstract 173, Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities effective for interim and annual financial
statements for the periods ended after January 19, 2009.
This interpretation must be applied retrospectively without
restatement of prior periods. This Abstract clarifies that the
Company must consider its own credit risk and the credit risk of
a counterparty in the determination of the fair value of derivative
instruments. This Abstract did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial statements.
As part of the application of fresh start accounting in February
2008 and the requirement to effect a comprehensive revaluation
of the Company’s fixed assets, a review of the estimated
remaining useful life of certain fixed assets was also undertaken.
The review indicated that the estimated useful life of several Pulp
segment fixed assets was longer than originally anticipated and
periodic future depreciation expense should be reduced. The
implementation of these changes in estimates reduced Pulp
segment depreciation expense by approximately $5 million in
fiscal 2008 and $17 million in fiscal 2009.
Effective March 2008, the Company adopted the new standards
of the CICA Handbook Section 3031, Inventories. The new
section requires that inventories be measured at the lower of cost
and net realizable value. Prior to the adoption of this section, the
Company did not apply net realizable value standards to its log
inventories. During fiscal 2008, the Forest Products segment
benefited from an $18 million favourable adjustment to the
carrying values of its log inventories. During fiscal 2009, the
segment absorbed a charge of $6 million relating to the carrying
values of its log inventories.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Effective March 2008, the Company adopted the new standards
of the CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial InstrumentsDisclosures, Section 3863, Financial Instruments-Presentation
and Section 1535, Capital Disclosures. These new sections are
effective for interim and annual financial statements beginning
on or after October 1, 2007. Section 3862 requires an increased
emphasis on disclosing the nature and the extent of risk arising
from financial instruments and how the Company manages those
risks. Section 3863, establishes standards for presentation of
financial instruments and non-financial derivatives. Sections
3862 and 3863 replaced Section 3861, Financial InstrumentsDisclosures and Presentation. Section 1535 requires the
Company to disclose information to enable users of its financial
statements to evaluate the Company’s objectives, policies and
processes for managing capital. The adoption of these new
standards did not impact the Company’s financial results.
Effective March 1, 2008, the Company adopted the accounting
treatment prescribed by Emerging Issues Committee’s EIC-166
of the CICA Handbook with respect to transaction costs when it
acquires a financial asset or incurs a financial liability. EIC-166
concluded that the same accounting policy choice should be
made for all similar financial instruments classified as other than
held for trading, but that a different accounting policy choice
might be made for financial instruments that are not similar. The
adoption of EIC-166 did not impact the Company’s financial
results.
Effective March 15, 2008, the Company adopted the accounting
treatment prescribed by Emerging Issues Committee’s EIC-169
of the CICA Handbook with respect to contracts that are
routinely denominated in a single currency. EIC-169 provides
guidance on the interpretation of the term “routinely
denominated” and identifies factors that can be used to
determine whether a contract for the purchase or sale of a nonfinancial item is routinely denominated in a particular currency in
commercial transactions around the world. The adoption of
EIC-169 did not impact the Company’s financial results.

IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS ON
FUTURE REPORTING PERIODS
In January 2009, the CICA issued three new accounting
standards: Section 1582, Business Combinations, Section 1601,
Consolidated Financial Statements and Section 1602, Non-

Controlling Interest. Section 1582 replaces former Section 1581
and establishes standards for the accounting of a business
combination and is mostly aligned with International Financial
Reporting Standards 3 (IFRS 3), Business Combinations. This
section specifies an expanded definition of a business that most
assets acquired and liabilities assumed will be measured at fair
value and that acquisition costs will be recognized as expenses.
Sections 1601 and 1602 together replace former Section 1600,
Consolidated Financial Statements. Section 1601 establishes
standards for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements. Section 1602, which converges with the
requirements of International Accounting Standard 27 (IAS 27),
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, establishes
standards for accounting of a non-controlling interest resulting
from a business acquisition, recognized as a distinct component
of shareholders’ equity. Net income will present the allocation
between the controlling and non-controlling interest. These three
standards will become effective for the fiscal years beginning on
or after January 1, 2011. The Company does not expect these
new standards to have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

CONVERSION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
CONVERSION PROGRESS
In 2005, the Accounting Standards Board of Canada (AcSB)
announced that accounting standards in Canada are to converge
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). On
February 13, 2008, the AcSB confirmed that publicly accountable
entities will be required to prepare financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, in full and without modification, for interim
and annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or
after January 1, 2011, which in the case of the Company,
represents interim and fiscal year-end periods beginning on or
after September 25, 2011 (the “Changeover” date). In the
Company’s reporting for those periods following the Changeover
date, comparative data for equivalent periods in the previous
fiscal year will be required, making September 26, 2010 the
“Transition” date for the Company.
IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP,
but presents significant differences on certain recognition,
measurement and disclosure principles. In the period leading up
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to the Changeover, the AcSB will continue to issue accounting
standards that are better aligned with IFRS thus mitigating the
impact of conversion to IFRS. Further, the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) will also continue to issue
new, or amend existing accounting standards during the
conversion period, and as a result, the final impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements of applying IFRS in
full will only be entirely measurable once all applicable IFRS
requirements at the final Changeover date are known.
The Tembec transition to full implementation of IFRS consists of
five phases:
• Preliminary Study Phase – This phase involves performing a
high-level assessment to identify key areas of accounting
differences and their impact (high, medium or low priority) that
may arise from the transition to IFRS.

financial statements, embedding IFRS in business processes,
eliminating unnecessary data collection processes and
submitting IFRS financial statements to the Audit Committee
for approval. Implementation also involves further training of
staff as revised systems begin to take effect.
To ensure adequate management of this process, the Company
has established a project team and an IFRS Steering Committee,
both of which are comprised of finance and accounting senior
management as well as representatives from various areas of the
organization, as deemed appropriate. Progress reporting to the
Audit Committee on the status of the IFRS implementation
project has been instituted. The Company completed the
Preliminary Study Phase in July 2008 and the Project Set-up
Phase in January 2009. The IFRS team is currently focusing on
the Component Evaluations and Issues Resolution Phase.
POTENTIAL IMPACT OF IMPLEMENTATION ON TEMBEC

• Project Set-up Phase – This phase includes the identification
of a project team and IFRS Steering Committee, the
development of a detailed conversion plan, a change
management plan as well as other key conversion processes
and tools.
• Component Evaluations and Issues Resolution Phase – In this
phase, the Company completes a detailed assessment of all
accounting differences, including those identified in the
preliminary study phase, and their impact on the Company. It
involves specification of changes required to existing
accounting policies, information systems and business
processes, together with an analysis of policy alternatives
allowed under IFRS and impacts on drafting of financial
statements under IFRS. The analysis and decisions made during
this phase are included in IFRS Accounting Policy Choice
Memos challenged and approved by the IFRS Steering
Committee and External Auditors, which are then submitted to
the Audit Committee.
• Conversion Phase – This phase includes execution of changes
to information systems, business processes and accounting
policies. It also involves the development of a communication
and training program for the Company’s finance and other
staff, as necessary.
• Embedding Phase – The project will culminate in the collection
of financial information necessary to compile IFRS-compliant

The comparisons of IFRS with Canadian GAAP, which are currently
reflected in the Company’s accounting policies, have helped
identify a number of areas of differences.
IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards, provides entities adopting IFRS for the first time with
a number of optional exemptions and mandatory exceptions, in
certain areas, to the general requirement for full retrospective
application of IFRS. The Company is analyzing the various
accounting policy choices available and will implement those
determined to be most appropriate in the circumstances.
Most adjustments required on transition to IFRS will be made,
retrospectively, against opening retained earnings as of the date
of the first comparative balance sheet presented based on
standards applicable at that time. Transitional adjustments relating
to those standards where comparative figures are not required to
be restated will only be made as of the first day of the year of
adoption.
The following are selected key areas of accounting differences
where changes in accounting policies in conversion to IFRS may
impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The list
and comments should not be construed as a comprehensive list
of changes that will result from transition to IFRS but rather
highlights those areas of accounting differences the Company
currently believes to be most significant. Notwithstanding,

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

analysis of changes is still in progress and certain decisions remain
to be made where choices relating to accounting policies are
available. We note that the standard-setting bodies that
promulgate Canadian GAAP and IFRS have significant ongoing
projects that could affect the ultimate differences between
Canadian GAAP and IFRS and their impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements in future years. The areas of
differences highlighted below are based on existing Canadian
GAAP and IFRS effective at September 26, 2009. At this stage,
the Company is not able to reliably quantify the full impact of
these and other differences on Tembec’s consolidated financial
statements.
Fresh Start Accounting
IFRS does not provide specific guidance on the accounting by
entities subject to a financial reorganization. Instead, usual
requirements of IFRS apply. In particular, fresh start accounting
is not permitted in such circumstances. In order to mitigate the
impact of this accounting difference, IFRS 1 provides the choice
of recording an item of property, plant and equipment based on
a deemed cost, which can be an event driven valuation where
some or all of the assets and liabilities were valued and recognized
at fair value. The difference may impact the accounting
measurement of some assets and liabilities that were revalued on
February 29, 2008.
Foreign Exchange Translation
IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates,
requires an operation to determine its functional currency in
accordance with the standard and translate all foreign currency
items into its functional currency. Upon consolidation, the
Company translates all assets and liabilities of consolidated
operations with a functional currency that is different than the
presentation currency at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet. Canadian GAAP on the other hand requires a
Company to classify each foreign operation as integrated or selfsustaining operations. The translation to the Company’s currency
of the assets and liabilities of foreign operations differs
significantly from IFRS. The difference may impact the accounting
measurement of some of the Company’s foreign operations.
Provisions
IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,
requires a provision to be recognized when: there is a present
obligation as a result of a past transaction or event; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

“Probable” in this context means more likely than not. Under
Canadian GAAP, the criterion for recognition in the financial
statements is “likely”, which is a higher threshold than “probable”.
Therefore, it is possible that there may be some provisions or
contingent liabilities which would meet the recognition criteria
under IFRS that were not recognized under Canadian GAAP. Other
differences between IFRS and Canadian GAAP exist in relation to
the measurement of provisions, such as the methodology for
determining the best estimate where there is a range of equally
possible outcomes (IFRS uses the low-point of the range,
whereas Canadian GAAP uses the low-end of the range), and the
requirement under IFRS for provisions to be discounted where
material.
The Company will continue to review all proposed and ongoing
projects of the IASB and assess their impact on its conversion
process.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Fixed asset depreciation
The Company records its fixed assets, primarily production
buildings and equipment, at cost. Interest costs are capitalized
for projects in excess of $1 million that have a duration in excess
of one year. Investment tax credits or capital assistance received
reduce the cost of the related assets. Fixed assets acquired as a
result of a business acquisition are recorded at their estimated
fair value. Depreciation of fixed assets is provided over their
estimated useful lives, generally on a straight-line basis. Forest
access roads are depreciated on the basis of harvested volumes
and certain equipment is depreciated using the unit of production
method. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets are based on
judgement and the best currently available information. Changes
in circumstances can result in the actual useful lives differing from
our estimates. Revisions to the estimated useful lives of fixed
assets constitute a change in accounting estimate and are
dealt with prospectively by amending the amount of future
depreciation expense. In fiscal 2008, a review of the estimated
useful life of several Pulp segment fixed assets indicated that
their estimated useful life was longer than originally anticipated
and periodic future depreciation expense should be reduced.
The implementation of these changes in estimates reduced
annual Pulp segment depreciation expense by $17 million.
Approximately $5 million was recorded in fiscal 2008, whereas
the full amount was recorded in fiscal 2009.
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Impairment of goodwill
Accounting standards require that goodwill no longer be
amortized to earnings, but be annually tested for impairment. The
Company uses certain operating and financial assumptions to
conduct its impairment test, principally those contained in its
most recent multi-year operating plan. This ensures that
assumptions are supported, where available, by relevant
independent information. As a result of the financial
recapitalization undertaken on February 29, 2008, the carrying
value of goodwill was reduced from $3 million to nil.
Impairment of long-lived assets
The Company must review the carrying value of long-lived assets
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the value
may have been impaired and is not recoverable through future
operations and cash flows. To estimate future cash flows, the
Company uses operating and financial assumptions, primarily
those contained in its most recent multi-year operating plan. This
ensures that the assumptions are supported, where available, by
relevant independent information. There were no fixed asset
impairment charges in fiscal 2008. The work conducted in fiscal
2009 indicated an asset impairment charge of $2 million relating
to the Pine Falls, Manitoba newsprint facility.
Employee future benefits
Tembec contributes to several defined benefit pension plans,
primarily related to employees covered by collective bargaining
agreements. The Company also provides post-retirement
benefits to certain retirees, primarily health-care related. For
post-retirement benefits, funding of disbursements is done on a
“pay as you go” basis. The Company uses independent actuarial
firms to quantify the amount of pension and post-retirement
obligations. The Company, based on its own experience and
recommendations from its actuarial firms, evaluates the
underlying assumptions on an annual basis. Changes in estimates
or assumptions can have a substantial impact on the amount of
pension and post-retirement benefit expense, the carrying values
on the balance sheet, and, in the case of defined benefit plans,
the amount of plan surplus or deficit. At June 30, 2009, (the
“measurement” date), the fair value of defined benefit plan assets
was $606 million, an amount equal to 73% of the estimated
accrued benefit obligation of $828 million, generating a deficit
of $222 million. The plan deficit was $171 million at the prior
measurement date, June 30, 2008. The deficit increase of

$51 million that occurred over the 12-month period was due to
several items. The deficit was increased by $120 million as the
return on plan assets of negative $71 million versus an implied
interest cost of $49 million. This significant unfavourable item
was partially offset by two favourable items. An actuarial gain of
$41 million decreased the obligation at the measurement date.
This item was caused primarily by an increase in the applicable
discount rate from 5.56% to 5.73%. The discount rate is tied to
the rates applicable to high-quality corporate bonds (AA or
higher) in effect at the measurement date. The deficit was
further reduced by $23 million as employer contributions of
$38 million exceeded the current service cost of $15 million.
Pension expense in fiscal 2009 was $19 million, as compared to
$14 million in the prior year. Based on current assumptions,
employer contributions and pension expense in fiscal 2010 are
expected to be approximately $33 million and $20 million
respectively. There is no assurance that current assumptions will
materialize in future periods. The defined benefit pension plans
may be unable to earn the assumed rate of return. Market driven
changes to discount rates and other variables may result in
changes to anticipated Company contribution amounts.
With regard to other employee future benefit plans, the accrued
benefit obligation at the measurement date was $55 million,
a decrease from $59 million in the prior year. Employer
contributions were $3 million, up from $2 million in the prior year.
In fiscal 2009, the Company recognized an expense of $5 million,
unchanged from the prior year. Based on current assumptions,
the amount of employer contributions and the amount of
expense to be recognized in fiscal 2010 are expected to be
approximately $3 million and $4 million respectively.
Future income taxes
Future income tax is provided for using the asset and liability
method and recognizes temporary differences between the tax
values and the financial statement carrying amounts of balance
sheet items as well as certain carry forward items. The Company
only recognizes a future income tax asset to the extent that, in
its opinion, it is more likely than not that the future income tax
asset will be realized. This opinion is based on estimates and
assumptions as to the future financial performance of the various
taxable legal entities in the various tax jurisdictions. A more
detailed review of income taxes is included in a subsequent
section of the MD&A.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

USE OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES
The following summarizes non-GAAP financial measures utilized
in the MD&A. As there is no generally accepted method of
calculating these financial measures, they may not be comparable
to similar measures reported by other companies.
EBITDA refers to earnings before non-recurring items, interest,
income taxes, depreciation, amortization and other nonoperating expenses and revenues. The Company considers
EBITDA to be a useful indicator of the financial performance of
the Company, the business segments and the individual business
units.
Free Cash Flow refers to cash provided by operating activities
before changes in non-cash working capital balances less net
fixed asset additions. Working capital changes are excluded as
they are often seasonal and temporary in nature. The Company
considers free cash flow to be a useful indicator of its ability to
generate discretionary cash flow, thereby improving its overall
liquidity position.

Net debt refers to debt less cash and cash equivalents such as
marketable securities or temporary investments.
Total capitalization refers to net debt plus future income taxes,
other long-term liabilities and shareholders’ equity.
Net debt to total capitalization is used by the Company to
measure its financial leverage.
Return on capital employed (ROCE) refers to net earnings (or
loss) for a given period, adjusted for the after-tax impact of
interest expense, divided by the average of total assets less noninterest bearing current liabilities for the period. The Company
utilizes this measure to compare its performance to other
competitors in its industry.
Return on Equity (ROE) refers to net earnings or loss for a given
period divided by the average shareholders’ equity for the period.
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2009 vs. 2008
FINANCIAL SUMMARY
(in millions of dollars)

2008

2009

2,376

1,786

Freight and sales deductions

292

224

Lumber export taxes/duties

11

4

1,943

1,578

109

88

Sales

Cost of sales
SG&A
EBITDA

(108)

21

Depreciation and amortization

73

123

Other items

(25)

(3)

Operating loss

(77)

(178)

Interest, foreign exchange and other
Loss on translation of foreign debt
Pre-tax loss

22

6

21
(221)

(128)

Income tax expense (recovery)

(1)

11

Minority interests

(1)

-

Net loss from continuing operations

(219)

(139)

Earnings (loss) from discontined operations

5

(11)

Net loss

(214)

(150)

Total assets (at year end)
Total long-term debt (at year end) (1)
(1)

45

1,619

1,366

396

402

includes current portion

CONSOLIDATED SALES

CONSOLIDATED SALES BY SEGMENT

(in millions of dollars)

(in millions of dollars)

3500

3500

3,109

3,016

3000

3000

2,750
2,376

2500
2000

2500

1,786

2000

1500

1500

1000

1000

500

500

0

05

06

07

08

09

0

05

06

07

08

09

Forest Products

Paper

Pulp

Chemicals
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EBITDA BY SEGMENT

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

(in millions of dollars)
150

100

10%

65
100

42

50

5%

21

13
50

0

0

-50

-50

-100

0%

-5%

-10%

-108
-100

07

08

-150

09

05

06

07

08

09

Forest Products

Paper

EBITDA $ millions (left scale)

Pulp

Chemicals

EBITDA % Sales (right scale)

-15%

SALES
(in millions of dollars)

Forest Products

407

(210)

(2)

(208)

(400)

(67)

(333)

17

69

(52)

(32)

8

(40)

1

-

1,010

435

452

Chemicals

130

98

Corporate

3

4

2,595

1,971

Sales

Volume & mix
variance

617
1,410

Less: internal sales

Price
variance

2009

Paper

Pulp

Total
variance

2008

(219)
2,376

(185)
1,786

Sales decreased by $590 million as compared to the prior year.
The decline was the result of lower sales volumes in all segments.
Currency was favourable as the Canadian dollar averaged
US $0.850, a 14% decline from US $0.991 in the prior year.
Forest Products segment sales declined by $210 million as a
result of lower shipments. Pulp segment sales declined by
$400 million as a result of lower shipments and prices. Paper
segment sales increased by $17 million due to higher prices,
partially offset by lower shipments.

(624)

8

1
(632)

34
(590)

In terms of geographical distribution, the U.S. remained the
Company’s principal market with 37% of consolidated sales in
fiscal 2009, as compared to 33% in the prior year. Canadian sales
represented 18% of sales, as compared to 17% in the prior year.
Sales outside of the U.S. and Canada represented the remaining
45% in fiscal 2009, as compared to 50% a year ago.
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EBITDA
(in millions of dollars)

2008

Total
variance

2009

Price
variance

Cost & volume
variance

Forest Products

(72)

(67)

Pulp

118

(61)

(179)

(67)

(112)

27

36

69

(33)

Paper

(9)

5

(2)

7

Chemicals

9

10

1

8

(7)

Corporate

(25)

(17)

8

-

8

21

(108)

EBITDA declined by $129 million versus the prior year. The Forest
Products segment’s EBITDA was relatively unchanged. The Pulp
segment’s EBITDA declined by $179 million. Lower selling prices
and higher manufacturing costs caused by weaker market
conditions and significant production curtailments impacted
results. The Paper segment’s EBITDA increased by $36 million

(129)

8

(137)

due to higher selling prices, partially offset by higher costs. The
Chemicals segment’s EBITDA improved by $1 million due to
higher profitability of the resin business. Corporate general and
administrative expenses declined by $8 million driven primarily
by cost reduction initiatives.

OPERATING EARNINGS (LOSS)
(in millions of dollars)

2008
Forest Products

(90)

Pulp

59

Paper

(25)

2009
(88)
(101)
22
7

Chemicals

6

Corporate

(27)

(18)

(77)

(178)

The Company generated an operating loss of $178 million
compared to an operating loss of $77 million in fiscal 2008.
The Forest Products segment generated an operating loss of
$88 million in fiscal 2009, compared to an operating loss of
$90 million in fiscal 2008. In February 2008, the Company
applied fresh start accounting and the carrying values of the
Forest Products fixed assets were reduced by $169 million. As
a result, segment annual depreciation expense declined by
$23 million. As well, the prior year results of the Forest Products
segment included a non-recurring gain of $16 million on the sale
of land. The Pulp segment generated an operating loss of
$101 million during the most recently completed fiscal year,
compared to operating earnings of $59 million a year ago. Lower

Total
variance

EBITDA
variance

Depreciation &
amortization
variance

Other
items
variance

2

5

15

(18)

(160)

(179)

18

1

47

36

14

(3)

1

1

1

(1)

9

8

2

(1)

50

(22)

(101)

(129)

depreciation expense provided a partial offset to the previously
noted decrease in EBITDA. In fiscal 2008, fresh start accounting
reduced the carrying values of Pulp fixed assets by $217 million.
Annual depreciation expense was reduced by $19 million. The
Paper segment generated operating earnings of $22 million
compared to an operating loss of $25 million in the prior year. In
addition to the previously noted improvement in EBITDA,
segment depreciation expense declined by $14 million. As a result
of fresh start accounting, the carrying values of the Paper fixed
assets were reduced by $394 million in February 2008 and
segment annual depreciation expense declined by $33 million.
The Chemicals segment’s operating earnings were relatively
unchanged.
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A more detailed review of items having impacted sales, EBITDA
and operating results of each business segment is outlined in a
subsequent section of the MD&A. The following sections review
the impact of non-operating items on the financial performance
of the Company.

INTEREST, FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND OTHER

$14 million on its new US $300-million loan as the relative value
of the Canadian dollar decreased from US $1.016 to US $0.968.
In addition, the Company recorded a loss of $1 million on the
translation of its euro-denominated debt as the relative value of
the euro increased from C $1.494 to C $1.509.

INCOME TAXES

(in millions of dollars)

2008

2009

Interest on indebtedness

55

37

Foreign exchange items

(11)

(16)

Other items

1

1

45

22

Interest on debt declined by $18 million as a result of the
Company’s financial recapitalization. In the prior year, the
Company had US $1.2 billion of outstanding senior unsecured
notes. On February 29, 2008, the notes were converted into new
shares of Tembec and a new US $300-million term loan was put
in place. The fiscal 2009 gain of $16 million related to foreign
exchange items was caused primarily by the conversion of
US $ net monetary assets as the Canadian dollar closing rate
versus the US dollar decreased by 5% at the end of September
2009 versus the closing rate at the end of September 2008.

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN DEBT
During fiscal 2009, the Company recorded a loss of $18 million
on the translation of its US $ denominated debt as the relative
value of the Canadian dollar decreased from US $0.968 to
US $0.916. The Company recorded a loss of $3 million on the
translation of its euro-denominated debt as the relative value of
the euro versus the Canadian dollar increased from C $1.509 to
C $1.602.
During the five-month period ended February 29, 2008, the
Company recorded a gain of $12 million on its US $ denominated
debt as the relative value of the Canadian dollar increased from
US $1.005 to US $1.016. During the same five-month period,
the euro appreciated from C $1.419 to C $1.494 and the
Company recorded a loss of $3 million on the translation of its
euro-denominated debt. During the seven-month period ended
September 27, 2008, the Company recorded a loss of

During fiscal 2009, the Company recorded an income tax
recovery of $1 million on a pre-tax loss from continuing
operations of $221 million. The income tax recovery reflected a
$67 million unfavourable variance versus an anticipated income
tax recovery of $68 million based on the Company’s effective
tax rate of 30.9%. The non-recognition of period losses reduced
the income tax recovery by $62 million. Based on past financial
performance, future income tax assets of the Company’s
operations have been limited to the amount that is more likely
than not to be realized. The non-deductible portion of the loss
on translation of foreign denominated debt reduced the income
tax recovery by $2 million. The non-deductible loss on
consolidation of foreign integrated subsidiaries reduced the
income tax recovery by $3 million.
During the year ended September 2008, the Company recorded
an income tax expense of $11 million on a pre-tax loss from
continuing operations of $128 million. The income tax expense
reflected a $52 million unfavourable variance versus an
anticipated income tax recovery of $41 million based on the
Company’s effective tax rate of 31.9%. The non-recognition of
period losses increased the income tax expense by $52 million.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
The financial results of the St. Francisville paper mill have been
classified as discontinued operations. During the year ended
September 2009, the operation generated earnings of $5 million.
The financial results include a $10 million after-tax gain on the
sale of the mill site and production equipment, a $2 million loss
on the translation of the US $ carrying values of the operation’s
liabilities, primarily pension and post-retirement healthcare, and
finally a charge of $5 million for custodial and legacy costs. The
prior year loss of $11 million included a $12 million charge for
custodial and legacy costs and a $1 million loss on the translation
of the US $ carrying values of its liabilities, partially offset by a
$2 million gain on the sale of equipment.
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NET LOSS
The Company generated a net loss of $214 million or $2.14 per
share for the year ended September 26, 2009 compared to a net
loss of $102 million or $1.19 per share for the five-month period
ended February 29, 2008 and a net loss of $48 million or $0.48 per
share for the seven-month period ended September 27, 2008.
As noted previously, the Company’s financial results were
impacted by certain specific items. The following table
summarizes the impact of these items on the reported financial
results. The Company believes it is useful supplemental

information as it provides an indication of results excluding the
specific items. This supplemental information is not intended as
an alternative measure for net earnings as determined by
Canadian GAAP. The table below contains one recurring item,
namely the gain or loss on translation of foreign debt. Because
the Company has a substantial amount of US $ denominated
debt, relatively minor changes in the value of the Canadian dollar
versus the US dollar can lead to large unrealized periodic gains or
losses. As well, this item receives capital gains/loss tax treatment
and is not tax-affected at regular business income rates.

Five months ended
February 29, 2008
$ millions $ per share
Net loss as reported
- in accordance with GAAP

Seven months ended
September 27, 2008
$ millions $ per share

(102)

(1.19)

(48)

(0.48)

(8)

(0.09)

12

0.12

(1)

(0.01)

Year ended
September 26, 2009
$ millions $ per share
(214)

(2.14)

Specific items (after-tax):
Loss (gain) on translation
of foreign debt
Gain on derivative financial
instruments

-

-

18
(1)

0.18
(0.01)

Other items:
(13)

(0.16)

-

-

-

-

Gain on reduced equity
participation in AV Cell

(4)

(0.04)

-

-

-

-

Writedown of Gaspesia
investment

2

0.02

-

-

-

-

Reversal of previously
accrued closure costs

(3)

(0.03)

-

-

-

-

Gain on sale of land

Gain on sale of AV Cell
and AV Nackawic shares

-

-

(1)

(0.01)

-

-

Gain on deconsolidation of
Temlam joint venture

-

-

(5)

(0.05)

-

-

Gain on deconsolidation of
Marathon joint venture

-

-

-

-

(5)

(0.05)

Corporate reorganization
costs

-

-

-

-

1

0.01

Loss on closure of specialty
hardwood sawmill

-

-

-

-

1

0.01

Gain on sale of Temrex

-

-

-

-

(2)

(0.02)

Asset impairment charge

-

-

-

-

2

0.02

Discontinued operations St. Francisville

4

0.05

7

0.07

(5)

(0.05)

(1.44)

(36)

(0.36)

(205)

(2.05)

Net loss excluding specific
items - not in accordance
with GAAP

(124)
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(in millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

2008

2009

Two months
One month
ended
ended
Dec. 07 Feb. 29, 2008 Mar. 29, 2008 June 08 Sept. 08

Dec. 08 Mar. 09 June 09Sept. 09

Sales

545

EBITDA

(16)

(1)

42

30

Depreciation and amortization

405

188

511

609

629

-

9

29

6

8

24

19

18

Other items

(19)

(1)

-

(2)

(3)

Operating earnings (loss)

(39)

(30)

(8)

(13)

13

(12)

417

407

(63)

(42)

18

19

(81)

(61)

451
(9)
18
(3)
(24)

Net loss from
continuing operations

(57)

(41)

(15)

(25)

(1)

(53)

(96)

(51)

(19)

Net loss

(60)

(42)

(17)

(27)

(4)

(60)

(99)

(38)

(17)

From continuing operations

(0.67)

(0.47)

(0.15)

(0.25)

(0.01)

(0.53)

(0.96)

(0.51) (0.19)

Basic and fully diluted

(0.70)

(0.49)

(0.17)

(0.27)

(0.04)

(0.60)

(0.99)

(0.38) (0.17)

Net loss per share:

FOURTH QUARTER ANALYSIS
The Company reported a net loss of $17 million or $0.17 per
share in the fourth quarter ended September 26, 2009 compared
to a net loss of $4 million or $0.04 per share in the same quarter
of fiscal 2008. The weighted average number of common shares
outstanding was 100 million, unchanged from the prior year.
Sales decreased by $178 million as compared to the same
quarter a year ago. The decline was the result of lower sales
volumes and prices in all three of the Company’s principal
business segments. Currency was favourable as the Canadian
dollar averaged US $0.910, a 5% decline from US $0.959 in the
prior year quarter. Forest Products segment sales declined by
$62 million as a result of lower shipments. Pulp segment sales
declined by $85 million as a result of lower shipments and prices.
Paper segment sales decreased by $33 million due to lower
shipments and prices.

EBITDA decreased by $38 million over the prior year quarter. The
Forest Products segment’s EBITDA increased by $4 million
because of lower costs. The Pulp segment’s EBITDA declined by
$28 million due to weaker demand and prices, partially offset by
lower manufacturing costs. The Paper segment’s EBITDA
decreased by $18 million due to higher costs and lower selling
prices.
The Company generated an operating loss of $24 million
compared to operating earnings of $13 million in the same
quarter a year ago. The increased loss corresponds primarily to
the previously noted decline in EBITDA.
There were no significant interest expense variances. The major
portion of the interest on long-term debt related to the
US $300 million term loan that was put in place in February 2008.
During the September 2009 quarter, the Company recorded a
gain of $19 million on the translation of its US $ denominated
debt as the relative value of the Canadian dollar increased from
US $0.866 to US $0.916. The Company recorded a gain of
$1 million on the translation of its euro-denominated debt as the
relative value of the euro versus the Canadian dollar decreased
from C $1.624 to C $1.602.
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During the September 2008 quarter, the Company recorded a
loss of $7 million on the translation of its US $ denominated debt
as the relative value of the Canadian dollar decreased from
US $0.990 to US $0.968. The Company recorded a gain of
$4 million on the translation of its euro-denominated debt as the
relative value of the euro versus the Canadian dollar decreased
from C $1.596 to C $1.509.
During the September 2009 quarter, the Company recorded a
“nil” income tax recovery on a pre-tax loss from continuing
operations of $19 million. This nil income tax recovery reflected
a $6 million unfavourable variance versus an anticipated income
tax recovery of $6 million based on the Company’s effective tax
rate of 30.9%. The non-recognition of period losses reduced the
income tax recovery by $6 million. Based on past financial
performance, future income tax assets of the Company’s
operations have been limited to the amount that is more likely
than not to be realized.
During the September 2008 quarter, the Company recorded an
income tax expense of $3 million on pre-tax earnings from
continuing operations of $2 million. The income tax expense
reflected a $3 million unfavourable variance versus an anticipated
nil expense based on the Company’s effective tax rate of 31.9%.
The non-recognition of period losses increased the income tax
expense by $4 million.
The financial results of the St. Francisville paper mill have been
classified as discontinued operations. During the quarter ended
September 2009, the operation generated earnings of $2 million.
The financial results include a $2 million gain on the translation
of the US $ carrying values of the operation’s liabilities, primarily
pension and post-retirement healthcare. The prior year quarter
loss of $3 million included a $1 million loss on translation of the
US $ carrying values of liabilities and a charge of $2 million for
custodial and legacy costs.
The fourth quarter 2009 interim MD&A issued on November 18,
2009 provides a more extensive analysis of items having
impacted the Company’s fourth quarter financial results.

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
On a sequential quarterly basis, sales were negatively impacted
by a weakening of US $ lumber reference prices, which decreased
to levels not seen in this decade. The Western benchmark price
declined by 23% year over year. The weak market conditions also
impacted lumber shipments which declined by 28% year over
year. Pulp prices were also in decline during fiscal 2009,
bottoming out in the June 2009 quarter, down by 30% to 40%
from the high of the June 2008 quarter. The weak market
conditions also impacted demand and the Company undertook a
record amount of production curtailments during the winter of
2008/2009. Overall, pulp shipments declined by 25% year over
year. Newsprint reference prices have been very volatile during
the last eight quarters. They increased by 28% from December
2007 to December 2008 then dropped by 42% over the final
three quarters of fiscal 2009. As a result, the Company continued
to generate relatively poor levels of EBITDA, with margins ranging
from a low of negative 15% to a high of 5% in the September
2008 quarter.
The Company’s financial performance and that of its Forest
Products segment for the last eight quarters were negatively
impacted by export taxes on lumber shipped to the U.S. Total
amount incurred over the last two years was $15 million.
The Company generated negative EBITDA of $87 million in the
last eight quarters. Depreciation and amortization expense
totalled $196 million. As a partial offset to the negative EBITDA
previously noted, the Company recorded other items having a net
favourable impact of $28 million over the last eight quarters.
Due to the weaker Canadian dollar, the Company recorded a loss
of $27 million on the translation of its foreign-denominated debt
over the last two years. However, the impact of the quarterly
debt translation gains and losses added considerable volatility to
the results, with the impact ranging from a gain of $25 million in
the June 2009 quarter to a loss of $59 million in the December
2008 quarter.
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Segment Review 2009 vs. 2008
FOREST PRODUCTS
(in millions of dollars)

2008

2009

Total sales

617

407

Consolidated sales

472

304

11

4

Lumber duties / export taxes
EBITDA
EBITDA margin on total sales
Depreciation and amortization
Other items

(72)

(67)

(11.7)%

(16.5)%

39

24

(21)

(3)

Operating loss

(90)

(88)

Identifiable assets (excluding cash)

296

251

The Forest Products segment is divided into two main areas of
activity: forest resource management and manufacturing
operations.

approximately 0.7 million cubic metres was secured mainly
through purchases and exchanges with third parties, down from
0.9 million cubic metres in the prior year.

The Forest Resource Management Group is responsible for
managing all of the Company’s Canadian forestry operations. This
includes the harvesting of timber, either directly or by contractual
agreements, and all silviculture and regeneration work required
to ensure a sustainable supply for the manufacturing units. The
Group is also responsible for third party timber purchases, which
are needed to supplement total requirements. The Group’s main
objective is the optimization of the flow of timber into various
manufacturing units. As the Company’s forest activity in Canada
is conducted primarily on Crown lands, the Forest Resource
Management Group works closely with provincial governments
to ensure harvesting plans and operations comply with
established regulations and that stumpage charged by the
provinces is reasonable and reflects the fair value of the timber
being harvested. During fiscal 2009, the Company’s operations
harvested and delivered 3.6 million cubic metres of timber versus
5.1 million cubic metres in 2008. Additional supply of

The Forest Products Group includes operations located in Quebec,
Ontario and British Columbia. The Group focuses on three main
product areas: SPF lumber, specialty wood and engineered wood.
The SPF lumber operations can produce approximately 1.7 billion
board feet of lumber. The specialty wood operations can annually
produce 30 million board feet of lumber and 20 million square
feet of hardwood flooring. The engineered wood operations had
historically produced laminated veneer lumber (LVL), finger joint
lumber, wood I-beams, and rim joists. The production of LVL,
wood I-beams and rim joists represented 50% of the output of
the Temlam joint venture. In September 2008, Temlam made
voluntary assignments in bankruptcy. As a result, there were no
sales of the aforementioned products in fiscal 2009. The
Company’s engineered wood operations now consist of two
wholly-owned finger joint lumber operations, which were idled
for most of fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009.
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The following summarizes the annual operating levels of each facility by product group:
SPF LUMBER

mbf

Stud lumber – Taschereau / La Sarre, QC (1)

200,000

Stud lumber – Senneterre, QC

150,000

Stud lumber – Cochrane, ON

170,000

Stud lumber – Kapuskasing, ON

105,000

Random lumber – Nouvelle / Saint-Alphonse, QC (2)

75,000

Random lumber – Béarn, QC

110,000

Random lumber – Chapleau, ON

135,000

Random lumber – Timmins, ON

100,000

Random lumber – Hearst, ON
Random lumber – Canal Flats, BC

160,000
(3)

180,000

Random lumber – Elko, BC (3)

270,000

Finger joint lumber – Cranbrook, BC

25,000
1,680,000

SPECIALTY WOOD

mbf

Hardwood lumber – Huntsville, ON

30,000

thousand square ft.
Flooring – Huntsville, ON / Toronto, ON

ENGINEERED WOOD

20,000

mbf

Engineered finger joint lumber – La Sarre, QC

60,000

Engineered finger joint lumber – Kirkland Lake, ON

30,000
90,000

thousand cubic ft.
Laminated veneer lumber – Ville-Marie, QC (4)
Laminated veneer lumber – Amos, QC

(4)

475
2,300
2,775

thousand linear ft.
Wood I-beams – Bolton, ON (4)
Wood I-beams – Calgary, AB

(4)

Wood I-beams – Blainville, QC (4)

40,000
18,000
5,000
63,000

(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)

Sites are operated as a combined entity.
Volumes reflect 50% of the actual capacity as the units are part of the Temrex joint venture. The 50% equity interest was sold at the end of fiscal 2009 and its
financial results will no longer be proportionately consolidated in the future.
The Elko and Canal Flats sawmills rely on the Cranbrook planer mill to dry and dress 80,000 mbf of lumber.
Volumes reflect 50% of the actual plant’s capacity as the units are part of the Temlam joint venture. On September 15, 2008, Temlam and a subsidiary of Temlam
made voluntary assignments in bankruptcy. As a result, Tembec ceased to apply the proportionate consolidation method to account for this investment.
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The segment is dominated by SPF lumber, which represented
81% of building material sales in fiscal 2009, compared to 73%
in the prior year. The increase in percentage was not driven by
higher volumes, but rather by a decrease in the non-SPF business,
most notably in engineered wood. The volume of SPF lumber sold
in fiscal 2009 declined by 280.6 million board feet or 28%.
Shipments were equal to 43% of capacity, down from 60% in
fiscal 2008. In response to very low lumber demand, the
Company further reduced production by curtailing operations at
several facilities for either indefinite or temporary periods. The
average selling price of SPF lumber was $6 per mbf lower than
in the prior year. The lower prices were the result of lower
US $ reference prices for random length and stud lumber, largely
offset by a weaker Canadian dollar which averaged 14% lower
versus the US dollar.

Engineered wood sales represented less than 1% of building
material sales in fiscal 2009, down from 11% in fiscal 2008. As
noted previously, the Temlam joint venture resulted in the
effective withdrawal of the Company from the production of LVL,
wood I-beams and rim joists. As well, the two remaining finger
joint facilities were shut down for most of fiscal 2009.

Specialty wood represented 19% of building material sales in
fiscal 2009, up from 16% in the prior year. Pine and hardwood
shipments dropped by 15.7 million board feet, primarily as a
result of the permanent closure of the Mattawa, Ontario sawmill.
Hardwood flooring sales declined by 3 million square feet due to
lower demand and housing starts.

Total sales for this segment reached $407 million, a decrease of
$210 million over the prior year. After eliminating internal sales,
the Forest Products segment generated 17% of Company
consolidated sales, down from 20% in the prior year. The Group’s
main market is North America, which represented 99% of
consolidated sales in fiscal 2009, as compared to 100% in the
prior year.

The Forest Products Group produced and shipped approximately
1.1 million tonnes of wood chips in fiscal 2009, 90% of which
were directed to the Company’s pulp and paper operations. In
2008, the Group produced 1.6 million tonnes and shipped 89%
of this volume to the pulp and paper mills. The 0.5 million tonne
decline was caused primarily by the lower lumber production. The
internal transfer price of wood chips is based on current and
expected market transaction prices.

Sales
($ millions)
SPF lumber (mbf)

Shipments
(000 units)

Selling prices
($ / unit)

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

303

214

1,004.3

723.7

302

296

15

6

25.3

9.6

593

625

11.7

8.7

4,615

4,943

1,088.0

-

17

-

Specialty wood
Pine and hardwood (mbf)
Hardwood flooring (000 square ft)

54

43

69

49

19

-

2

1

5.0

5.9

400

169

23

-

17.8

-

1.29

-

Engineered Wood
LVL (cubic ft)
Engineered finger joint lumber (mbf)
Wood I-beams and rim joists (000 linear ft)
Total building materials
Wood chips, logs and by-products
Total sales
Internal wood chips and other sales
Consolidated sales

44

1

416

264

201

143

617

407

(145)

(103)

472

304
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QUARTERLY PRICES – WESTERN SPF MILL NET

QUARTERLY PRICES – EASTERN SPF DELIVERED

(US $ per mbf)

(US $ per mbf)
400

400

288

300

258

240

300

259
191

285

301
273
242

242
212

205
200

100

100

0

277

249

236

200

296

1

2

3

4

1

2008

2

3

4

2009

0

1

2

3
2008

Tembec Average

Tembec Average

Western SPF KD #2 and better

KD stud del.
Great Lakes

MARKETS
The benchmark random length Western SPF (#2 and better)
lumber net price averaged US $177 per mbf in 2009, a decrease
from US $231 per mbf in 2008. In the East, the random length
Eastern SPF average lumber price (delivered Great Lakes)
decreased from US $313 per mbf to US $264 per mbf in 2009.
The Company considers these to be relatively low levels,
approximately US $110 to US $120 below normal trend line
prices for random lumber. The reference price for stud lumber
decreased as well with the Eastern average lumber price
(delivered Great Lakes) down from US $291 per mbf to US $250
per mbf, a level approximately US $110 to US $120 per mbf
below trend line prices. The collapse in prices was driven by a very
weak U.S. housing market. U.S. housing starts declined from
1.03 million units in fiscal 2008 to 0.58 million units in fiscal
2009, a 44% decrease. Canadian housing starts declined from
219,000 units in fiscal 2008 to 151,500 units in fiscal 2009, a
31% decrease. While the Company recognized several years ago
that U.S. housing starts could not maintain the 2 million unit per
year run rate of the 2005/2006 period, and that a degree of
market correction would likely occur at some point, the severity
and extent of the correction had not been anticipated. The
negative effects of the sub-prime mortgage difficulties, the
latter having fuelled the strong demand in 2005/2006, have
been much greater than originally anticipated.
In addition to difficult market conditions, the Company’s
financial performance continued to be impacted by tariffs on
lumber shipped to the U.S. Effective October 12, 2006, the

4

1

2

3

4

2009
KD #2 and better
del. Great Lakes

Governments of Canada and the United States implemented an
agreement for the settlement of the softwood lumber dispute.
The Softwood Lumber Agreement (SLA) requires that an export
tax be collected by the Government of Canada, which is based
on the price and volume of lumber shipped. Beginning on that
date, the Company’s Eastern Canadian sawmills, located in
Quebec and Ontario, were subject to export quota limitations and
5% export tax on lumber shipped to the U.S. During fiscal 2009,
the Eastern sawmills incurred $3 million in export taxes,
unchanged from the prior year. On April 15, 2009, the effective
tax on Eastern lumber shipments increased from 5% to 15% as a
result of an arbitration decision relating to alleged overshipments of lumber between January 2007 and June 2007. This
added $1 million for the April 15 to September 26, 2009 period,
which is included in the previously noted $3 million. As an offset,
the Eastern sawmills benefited from a refund of $2 million relating
to overpayment of export taxes previously paid during the
October 2007 to March 2008 period. As to the Company’s two
Western sawmills, which are both located in British Columbia,
they are currently subject to a 15% export tax, but shipments
are not quota limited. Under certain circumstances, the tax may
be increased to 22.5%, which was not the case in either fiscal
2008 or fiscal 2009. During fiscal 2008, the Western sawmills
incurred a total of $8 million in export taxes. In the most recent
fiscal year, the Western sawmills incurred $4 million of lumber
export taxes. The decrease was largely due to a 48% reduction
in the volume of shipments to the U.S. The Western sawmills also
benefited from a $1 million refund relating to overpayment of
export taxes previously paid during the October 2007 to March
2008 period.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

OPERATING RESULTS
The following summarizes EBITDA variances by major business:
Variance - favourable (unfavourable)
Price

(in millions of dollars)

SPF lumber

Export taxes

Costs

TOTAL

(4)

7

-

3

Specialty wood

2

-

(2)

-

Engineered wood

-

-

6

6

Other segment items

-

-

(4)

(4)

(2)

7

-

5

Fiscal 2009 EBITDA was negative $67 million compared to
negative EBITDA of $72 million in the prior year. SPF lumber
EBITDA improved by $3 million. Lower selling prices for SPF
lumber were more than offset by the previously noted decline in
lumber export taxes. Specialty wood EBITDA was unchanged,
with higher prices offset by higher costs. Engineered wood
EBITDA improved by $6 million as the current year results did not
absorb the losses of the Temlam joint venture. The EBITDA margin
was negative 16.5% compared to negative 11.7% in the prior
year.
The following summarizes operating results variances by major
element:

(in millions of dollars)
EBITDA
Depreciation and
amortization

2008

2009

(72)

(67)

39

24

Variance
favourable
(unfavourable)
5
15

Other items

(21)

(3)

(18)

Operating loss

(90)

(88)

2

The Forest Products segment generated an operating loss of
$88 million in fiscal 2009, compared to an operating loss of
$90 million in fiscal 2008. As a result of fresh start accounting,
the carrying values of the Forest Products’ fixed assets were
reduced and depreciation expense declined by $15 million in fiscal
2009. The prior year results included a non-recurring gain of
$16 million on the sale of land.
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PULP
(in millions of dollars)

2008

2009

Total sales

1,410

1,010

Consolidated sales

1,343

932

EBITDA

118

(61)

EBITDA margin on total sales

8.4%

(6.0)%

Depreciation and amortization

62

44
(4)

Other items

(3)

Operating earnings (loss)

59

(101)

979

833

Identifiable assets (excluding cash)

The Pulp Group consisted of nine market pulp manufacturing
facilities operating at eight sites. The facilities are divided into two
main types. Seven paper pulp mills produce softwood kraft,
hardwood kraft and high-yield pulps. Two specialty pulp mills
produce specialty cellulose, fluff and dissolving pulps. Eight of the
pulp mills are wholly-owned and the Company had a 50% joint
venture position in the Marathon, Ontario softwood kraft pulp
mill. On February 13, 2009, the Marathon Pulp Inc. joint venture
filed a notice of intention to make a proposal under the
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act. As a result of the filing, the
Company concluded that it had lost joint control over Marathon
Pulp Inc. and ceased to apply the proportionate consolidation
method to account for its 50% interest in the joint venture.
The paper pulp mills can produce approximately 1,740,000 tonnes
per year, including the Marathon volume. The two specialty pulp
mills can produce approximately 320,000 tonnes per year.

The following summarizes the annual operating levels of each
facility by product group:

PAPER PULPS
Softwood kraft – Skookumchuck, BC

tonnes
270,000

Softwood kraft – Tarascon, France

260,000

Softwood kraft – Marathon, ON (1)

100,000
630,000

Hardwood kraft – Saint-Gaudens, France

305,000

Hardwood high-yield – Temiscaming, QC

315,000

Hardwood high-yield – Matane, QC

250,000

Hardwood high-yield – Chetwynd, BC

240,000
805,000

SPECIALTY PULPS
Specialty cellulose – Temiscaming, QC
Specialty cellulose / fluff – Tartas, France

165,000
155,000
320,000

TOTAL
(1)

2,060,000

50% of current annual capacity. On February 13, 2009, Marathon filed a
notice of intention to make a proposal under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency
Act. As a result of the filing, the Company concluded that it had lost joint
control over Marathon and ceased to apply the proportionate consolidation
method to account for its 50% interest in the joint venture.
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The segment is dominated by paper pulps, which represented
82% of total pulp shipments in fiscal 2009, compared to 84% in
the prior year. The volume of paper pulps shipped in fiscal 2009
declined by 26%. Shipments were equal to 67% of capacity,
down from 86% in the prior year. In response to very low demand
in the first half of the fiscal year, the Company undertook record
amounts of production curtailments at all of its facilities. In total,
the Company incurred 368,100 tonnes of paper pulp downtime
as compared to 23,400 in the prior year. In addition, the
Marathon Pulp bankruptcy led to a sales decline of 62,100 tonnes
from that facility. Despite the relatively weak demand, the
Company was successful in reducing its inventory levels. Fiscal
2009 began with 135,900 tonnes in inventory, representing
28 days of supply versus only 48,300 or 11 days of supply at
the end of the fiscal year. The average selling prices of the
principalgradesofpaperpulpsdeclinedbybetween$193pertonne
to $81 per tonne versus the prior year. The lower prices were the
result of significantly lower US $ reference prices for all grades
of paper pulps, partially offset by a weaker Canadian dollar, which
averaged 14% lower versus the US dollar.
Specialty pulps shipments represented 18% of total pulp
shipments in fiscal 2009, compared to 16% in the prior year. The
volume of specialty pulps shipped in fiscal 2009 declined by 19%.
Shipments were equal to 74% of capacity versus 92% in the prior
year. In response to lower demand, the Company undertook

18,400 tonnes of market curtailments to maintain target
inventory levels. Reduced daily operating rates also contributed
to the lower shipments. Inventory levels remained stable. Fiscal
2009 began with 32,200 tonnes in inventory and the year ended
with the same tonnage in inventory. The average selling price for
the various grades of specialty pulp increased by $171 per tonne
versus the prior year. The weaker Canadian dollar, which averaged
14% lower versus the US dollar, was the principal cause of the
price increase.
Total 2009 shipments of 1,348,400 tonnes include 51,200 tonnes
of high-yield pulp and 35,000 tonnes of softwood kraft pulp
consumed by the Company’s paperboard operations as compared
to 55,500 tonnes and 19,700 tonnes respectively in the
prior year. Overall, internal pulp consumption increased by
11,000 tonnes. The prior year consumption was less because of
lower production at the paperboard operations.
Total sales for the Pulp segment reached $1,010 million, a
decrease of $400 million from the prior year. After eliminating
internal sales, the Pulp segment generated 52% of Company
consolidated sales, down from 57% in the prior year. The Pulp
segment is more global than the other business segments within
Tembec. In 2009, 79% of consolidated pulp sales were generated
outside of Canada and the U.S., as compared to 83% in the
prior year.

Sales
($ millions)
2008

2009

Shipments
(000 units)
2008

2009

Selling prices
($ / unit)
2008

2009

Paper pulps
Softwood kraft

419

278

544.7

414.4

769

671

Hardwood kraft

184

142

257.7

236.2

714

601

642

561

1,081

1,252

Hardwood high-yield
Specialty pulps
Total pulp sales
Other sales
Total sales
Internal sales
Consolidated sales

449

259

699.3

461.3

1,052

679

1,501.7

1,111.9

317

296

293.2

236.5

1,369

975

1,794.9

1,348.4

41

35

1,410

1,010

(67)
1,343

(78)
932

(75.2)
1,719.7

(86.2)
1,262.2
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MARKETS

QUARTERLY PRICES
(US $ per tonne)

The Company markets its pulp on a world-wide basis, primarily
through its own sales force. The Pulp Group maintains sales or
representative offices in Toronto, Canada, Toulouse, France,
San Sebastian, Spain, and Beijing, China.
As noted previously, average paper pulp selling prices decreased
in fiscal 2009. The benchmark NBSK pulp price (delivered U.S.)
began the year at US $870 per tonne and experienced a
continuous series of price decreases, which bottomed out in
April 2009 at US $635 per tonne. The precipitous drop in price
was accompanied by a drop in demand as well, leading to record
amounts of market downtime. During the second half of the year,
the reference price increased back to US $770 per tonne.
Demand for paper pulps also improved during this period. The
benchmark average price was US $709 per tonne for fiscal 2009,
down considerably from US $875 per tonne in the prior year. As
noted previously, the net $ price effect was partially offset by
the weaker Canadian dollar. Specialty pulp markets were more
resilient in fiscal 2009. Despite weaker demand, US $ prices held
up for most grades and the Company was able to capture the
benefit of the weaker Canadian dollar.

900
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774
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700
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Tembec Average - all grades
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OPERATING RESULTS
The following summarizes EBITDA variances by major business:
Variance - favourable (unfavourable)

(in millions of dollars)

Price

Paper pulps

(104)

Specialty pulps
Other segment costs

37
(67)

Mix &
volume
(29)
(29)

Fiscal 2009 EBITDA was negative $61 million compared to
positive $118 million in the prior year. The previously noted
decline in paper pulp selling prices reduced EBITDA by
$104 million while specialty pulp pricing provided a partial offset.
Mix and volume variances reduced EBITDA by $29 million,
primarily due to the decline in paper pulp shipments. Paper pulp

Mill
costs

Inventory
NRV
adjustments

Foreign
exchange
impact
on costs

Other

(5)

(5)

(15)

(7)

(23)

(3)

(6)

(3)

(28)

(8)

(21)

TOTAL
(165)
2

(16)

(16)

(26)

(179)

mill level costs increased by only $5 million despite record
amounts of production curtailments. Lower fibre and energy
prices mitigated the negative impact of under-absorbed fixed
costs such as labour and overheads. Specialty pulp mill level costs
increased by $23 million, primarily due to the Temiscaming mill
which saw higher fibre costs as well as under-absorbed labour

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The following summarizes operating results variances by major
element:

and fixed costs resulting from production curtailments and
reduced daily operating rates. The lower paper pulp prices and
higher specialty pulp costs generated the $8 million in
unfavourable net realizable value (NRV) adjustments on the
carrying values of inventories. The restatement of the euro costs
of the two French paper pulp mills and the specialty pulp mill
increased Canadian $ equivalent costs by $21 million as the
relative value of euro averaged higher versus the Canadian dollar.
Other Pulp segment costs increased by $16 million. The lower
sales volume led to an under-absorption of $7 million of Pulp
segment fixed selling costs. Higher freight costs generated a
negative variance of $3 million.

(in millions of dollars)

The six North American pulp mills purchased approximately
1.3 million bone dry tonnes of wood chips in fiscal 2009, down
from 1.8 million in the prior year. Of this amount, approximately
44% was supplied by the Forest Products Group, compared to
48% in the prior year. The remaining requirements were
purchased from third parties under contracts and agreements of
various durations. The three pulp mills located in Southern France
purchased 1.2 million bone dry tonnes of wood in fiscal 2009 as
compared to 1.5 million tonnes in the prior year. The fibre is
mainly sourced from many private landowners.

The Pulp segment generated an operating loss of $101 million
during the most recently completed fiscal year, compared to
operating earnings of $59 million in the year ago period. As a
partial offset to the previously noted decrease in EBITDA, the
segment depreciation expense declined by $18 million. In
February 2008, the Company applied fresh start accounting and
the carrying values of the Pulp segment’s fixed assets were
reduced.

Overall, higher manufacturing costs and lower prices led to
EBITDA margins of negative 6.0% compared to positive 8.4% in
the prior year.

2008

2009

Variance
favourable
(unfavourable)

118

(61)

(179)

Depreciation and
amortization

62

44

18

Other items

(3)

(4)

Operating earnings (loss)

59

EBITDA

(101)

1
(160)
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PAPER
(in millions of dollars)

Consolidated sales

2008

2009

435

452

(9)

27

(2.1)%

6.0%

Depreciation and amortization

17

3

Other items

(1)

2

EBITDA
EBITDA margin

Operating earnings (loss)

(25)

Identifiable assets (excluding cash)

170

The Paper segment includes three paper manufacturing facilities
with a total of six paper machines. The mills located in
Kapuskasing, Ontario and Pine Falls, Manitoba produce newsprint.
The facility located in Temiscaming, Quebec produces multi-ply
bleached coated paperboard. The paperboard mill is partially
integrated with a high-yield pulp mill and also consumes pulp
manufactured by the Company at other sites. The total capacity
of the Paper Group is 695,000 tonnes. Beginning in fiscal 2008,
the Paper segment includes the financial results of a hydroelectric dam located in Smooth Rock Falls, Ontario.
The following summarizes the products and operating levels of
each facility by main type:

NEWSPRINT

tonnes

Kapuskasing, ON

330,000

Pine Falls, MB

185,000
515,000

SPECIALTY PAPER
Coated paperboard – Temiscaming, QC

180,000

TOTAL

695,000

The segment is dominated by newsprint, which represented 53%
of Paper segment shipments in fiscal 2009, compared to 60% in

22
126

the prior year. The volume of newsprint shipped in fiscal 2009
declined by 22%. Shipments were equal to 62% of capacity,
down from 79% in the prior year. In response to continued
decreases in the North American demand for newsprint, the
Company continued to curtail production at both of its facilities.
In total, the Company incurred 167,900 tonnes of marketrelated downtime compared to 79,800 tonnes in the prior year.
A further 12,500 tonnes of newsprint production were lost in
fiscal 2009 as a result of a work stoppage at the Pine Falls,
Manitoba newsprint mill. The unionized employees were lockedout in early September after the Company was not successful in
negotiating a new labour contract. Despite the weak market
environment, the Company was successful in maintaining
inventory levels. Fiscal 2009 began with 10,500 tonnes of
newsprint inventory versus 11,400 tonnes at the end of the
fiscal year. The average selling price of newsprint increased by
$107 per tonne. While US $ reference prices averaged slightly
lower, the weaker Canadian dollar, which averaged 14% lower
versus the US dollar, generated higher selling prices for Canadian
newsprint producers.
Coated paperboard shipments represented 46% of Paper
segment shipments in fiscal 2009, compared to 39% in the prior
year. The volume of paperboard shipments increased by 4%.
Shipments were equal to 88% of capacity versus 85% in the prior
year. While shipments increased, it was still not sufficient to
ensure full operations and the Company undertook 9,200 tonnes
of market downtime, although this represented a decrease from
20,200 tonnes taken in the prior year. The improvement in
demand allowed the Company to reduce inventory levels as well.
Fiscal 2009 began with 40,300 tonnes in inventory and ended

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

with 20,000 tonnes of finished paperboard in inventory. The
average selling price of paperboard products increased by
$212 per tonne as it benefited from the combined effect of
higher US $ reference prices and the previously noted weaker
Canadian dollar.

Total sales for the Paper segment reached $452 million, as
compared to $435 million in the prior year. The segment
generated 25% of Company consolidated sales, an increase from
18% in fiscal 2008. The focus of the paper business is North
America, which accounted for 94% of consolidated sales in 2009,
compared to 93% in the prior year. The U.S. alone accounted for
77% of sales, unchanged from 2008.

Sales
($ millions)

Shipments
(000 units)

Selling prices
($ / unit)

2008

2009

2008

2009

2008

2009

Newsprint

262

239

405.2

316.8

647

754

Coated paperboard

170

210

153.0

158.7

1,111

1,323

3

3

435

452

558.2

475.5

Electricity sales
Consolidated sales

MARKETS
As noted previously, newsprint prices increased in fiscal 2009.
The benchmark newsprint grade (48.8 gram – East Coast) began
the year at US $745 per tonne and maintained this level until
January 2009, at which point it began to decline, culminating in
a precipitous drop during the summer months of 2009. It reached
bottom in August at US $435 per tonne, a 42% decline in the
span of 11 months. It ended fiscal 2009 at US $445 per tonne.
Despite this significant drop in the last half of the year, the
average reference price for newsprint was US $625 per tonne

in fiscal 2009, down by only US $21 per tonne from the
US $646 per tonne average of fiscal 2008. The weaker Canadian
dollar accounted for the overall improvement in Canadian $
newsprint prices.
The benchmark for coated bleached boxboard (15 point)
averaged US $1,038 per short ton in fiscal 2009, a US $119 per
short ton increase over the prior year. The improved US $ reference
prices were assisted by the weaker Canadian dollar and average
prices for coated paperboard increased by $212 per tonne.

QUARTERLY PRICES

QUARTERLY PRICES

(US $ per tonne)

(US $ per short ton)

800

715

676

671

700

1200

738

1000

609
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1048

981

1026

1
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4

1

2

3

4
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504
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OPERATING RESULTS
The following summarizes EBITDA variances by major business:
Variance - favourable (unfavourable)
Price

Mix &
volume

Newsprint

34

-

Coated paperboard

35

-

69

-

(in millions of dollars)

Fiscal 2009 EBITDA was positive $27 million compared to
negative $9 million in the prior year. The previously noted
increase in newsprint selling prices increased EBITDA by
$34 million. However, higher newsprint manufacturing costs
mitigated a large portion of this favourable variance. At the mill
level, energy costs increased by $11 million, largely due to higher
effective rates for purchased electricity at the Kapuskasing
newsprint mill. The remainder of the $24 million unfavourable
variance, as well as the $6 million unfavourable other cost
newsprint variance, relates primarily to under-absorption of fixed
costs due to the previously noted increase in market downtime
and lower daily production rates.

Mill
costs

Other

(24)

TOTAL

(6)

4

(5)

2

32

(29)

(4)

36

Overall, the higher prices more than offset the higher costs and
EBITDA margins improved from negative 2.1% to positive 6.0%.
The following summarizes operating results variances by major
element:

(in millions of dollars)

2008

2009

Variance
favourable
(unfavourable)

27

36

17

3

14

(1)

2

(3)

(25)

22

47

EBITDA

(9)

Depreciation and
amortization

Higher coated paperboard prices increased EBITDA by
$35 million. Overall, manufacturing costs were relatively
unchanged.

Other items

The Paper Group’s two newsprint mills utilize virgin fibre, primarily
in the form of wood chips. During fiscal 2009, the operations
purchased 334,000 bone dry tonnes of virgin fibre, of which
approximately 85% was internally sourced. In the prior year, they
had purchased 407,000 bone dry tonnes of virgin fibre, with
85% being sourced internally. The operations in Kapuskasing and
Pine Falls can produce newsprint that contains recycled fibre.
In 2008, these two facilities consumed 6,400 tonnes of
wastepaper. Due to the significant increase in demand and price
for wastepaper, the Company ceased its utilization in fiscal 2008
and there was no consumption in fiscal 2009.

The Paper segment generated operating earnings of $22 million
compared to an operating loss of $25 million in the prior year. In
addition to the previously noted improvement in EBITDA, the
segment depreciation expense declined by $14 million. In
February 2008, the Company applied fresh start accounting and
the carrying values of the Paper segment’s fixed assets were
reduced.

Operating earnings (loss)
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CHEMICALS
(in millions of dollars)

2008

2009

Total sales

130

98

Consolidated sales

126

98

9

10

6.9%

10.2%

EBITDA
EBITDA margin on total sales

3

2

Other items

-

1

Operating earnings

6

7

50

38

Depreciation and amortization

Identifiable assets (excluding cash)

The Chemicals segment operates in three main areas of activity:
resins, lignin and ethanol.
The resin business produces powder and liquid phenolic resins
at three operating sites in Quebec: Temiscaming, Longueuil
and Trois-Pistoles. The Company also operates a fourth
manufacturing operation located in Toledo, Ohio which
manufactures powder and liquid amino-based resins and
distributes other products such as melamine. The Longueuil
operation also produces formaldehyde, both for internal resin
production and external sales.

The lignin business uses residual sulphite liquor produced by the
specialty pulp mills located in Temiscaming, Quebec and Tartas,
France. Lignin products are sold in liquid form and are also
converted into powder by utilizing spray dryers. As well, the
Group operates an ethanol plant located in Temiscaming, Quebec.
The lignin and ethanol businesses effectively convert pulp mill
residuals into value-added products. The segment also purchases
and resells pulp mill by-product chemicals from third parties.
These sales are included in “Other chemicals”.

Sales
($ millions)
2008

2009

Shipments
(000 units)
2008

2009

Selling prices
($ / unit)
2008

2009

Resins and related products (tonnes)

78

51

83.1

55.3

937

922

Lignin (tonnes)

41

35

181.9

132.6

225

264

Ethanol (000 litres)

8

9

10.1

10.9

792

826

Other chemicals

3

3

130

98

Total sales
Internal sales
Consolidated sales

(4)
126

98
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MARKETS

OPERATING RESULTS

Chemical products are sold primarily in North America with sales
representing 75% of consolidated segment sales in 2009,
compared to 79% in 2008. Resin products, which accounted for
52% of total chemical sales, are designed for the OSB industry
and other specialty applications. The 33% decline in shipments is
due largely to the current low demand for OSB, which, like SPF
lumber, is being negatively impacted by the significant decline in
housing starts. Lignin is sold as a binder, dispersant and surfactant
for industrial markets such as animal feed, concrete admixture
and carbon black. The 27% decline in shipments corresponds
largely to the lower production levels of the two specialty pulp
mills that generate lignin by-products. Ethanol is sold into the
Canadian vinegar, hygiene and cosmetics markets. The Chemical
Products Group sales represented 5% of consolidated sales in
2009, unchanged from the prior year.

Despite the difficult housing environment noted previously, the
Company was able to maintain prices for its resin products.
Combined with cost reductions, resin EBITDA improved by
$3 million. While the price for lignin products improved, lower
volumes and higher costs more than offset the increase and
EBITDA declined by $2 million. Operating earnings in fiscal 2009
were $7 million, up from $6 million in the prior year.
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Financial Position and Liquidity
FREE CASH FLOW
(in millions of dollars)

2008

2009

Cash flow from operations
before working capital changes

(61)

(132)

Net fixed asset additions

(63)

(42)

Free cash flow (negative)

(124)

(174)

Cash flow from operations before working capital changes in
fiscal 2009 was negative $132 million, a $71 million decline from
fiscal 2008. The decrease was caused by the $129 million decline
in EBITDA. Offsetting positive items included a $17 million
income tax refund related to the Company’s French operations,
an $18 million reduction in interest expense and a $10 million
reduction in excess pension contributions.
In fiscal 2009, non-cash working capital items generated
$71 million as compared to $33 million used in the prior year
period. The decrease in selling prices and volumes in all of the
Company’s business segments generated a $82 million decline in
accounts receivables. A $86 million decline in inventories was

generated by a planned reduction in the Pulp Group as well as
market-related production curtailments in the Forest Products
and Paper segments. The $103 million reduction in accounts
payable was due to reduced production activity combined with
payments of $23 million to settle obligations in relation to the
bankruptcy of the Temlam engineered wood joint venture. As of
September 2009, an amount of $23 million is included in
accounts receivable. The Company holds a first ranking security
interest on the Temlam fixed assets. After allowing for net fixed
asset additions of $42 million, free cash flow in fiscal 2009 was
negative $174 million versus a negative amount of $124 million
in the prior year.

CAPITAL SPENDING
(in millions of dollars)

2008

2009

8

6

Pulp

49

31

Paper

5

4

Chemicals

2

1

Corporate

(1)

-

Forest Products

Net fixed asset additions

63

42

As a % of total sales

2.4%

2.1%

As a % of fixed asset depreciation

53%

58%

In response to relatively low EBITDA and significant operating
losses brought on by challenging market conditions and export
taxes on lumber shipped to the U.S., the Company has continued
to limit capital expenditures. During fiscal 2009, net fixed asset

additions totalled $42 million compared to $63 million in the
prior year period. The Company estimates that annual capital
expenditures of $50 million to $60 million are required to
adequately maintain its facilities.
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Significant capital expenditures in fiscal 2009 included an amount
of $13 million to complete the installation of a condensing turbine
and a 12-megawatt electrical generator at the Tarascon paper
pulp mill. The $19-million project was completed in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2009 and will reduce energy costs at the mill in
fiscal 2010.
Significant capital expenditures in fiscal 2008 included an amount
of $17 million to complete the construction of a new $48-million
biomass/bark boiler at the Tartas specialty pulp mill. The new
boiler was put into service in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008
and reduced purchased fossil fuel costs at this facility. An
investment of $6 million was made to begin the installation of
the condensing turbine and electrical generator at the Tarascon
paper pulp mill.

In April 2009, the Company sold the St. Francisville, Louisiana
mill site and production equipment for total consideration of
US $16 million, of which $7 million was cash.
During fiscal 2008, the Aditya Birla Group purchased 20% of the
Company’s remaining 25% equity interest in the issued and
outstanding shares of both AV Cell Inc. and AV Nackawic Inc. for
total consideration of $9 million. A $7 million loan previously
made to AV Cell Inc. was also reimbursed. As well, the Company
disposed of several parcels of land for total consideration of
$17 million. The land was of relatively high value and was better
suited to commercial development then to long-term forestry
and timber harvesting.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
On October 9, 2009, the Company was advised that it had
qualified for $24 million of credits under the federal
government’s Pulp and Paper Green Transformation Program. The
credits can be used to finance capital projects that generate
environmental benefits, including investments in energy
efficiency or the production of renewable energy from forest
biomass. The Company has identified several high-returning
projects that should qualify for this program and will be
submitting them for qualification in the near future.

NET DEBT TO TOTAL CAPITALIZATION

70%

65%
63%

60%

59%

50%

42%
40%

ACQUISITIONS, INVESTMENTS AND DIVESTITURES
During fiscal 2009, reduced participation in joint ventures
generated $18 million. As the result of a filing under
the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act by the Marathon Pulp
joint venture in February 2009, the Company ceased to
proportionately consolidate its 50% of the joint venture’s assets
and liabilities. As the Company’s share of Marathon’s net bank
indebtedness was $8 million at the time of the filing, cash and
cash equivalents increased by the same amount. In September
2009, the Company completed the sale of its 50% interest in
Temrex and net cash increased by $10 million.

30%

30%

20%

05

06
Actual

07

08

09

Objective < 40%

Net debt to total capitalization stood at 42% at September 2009,
an increase of 12% from 30% at September 2008. The fiscal
2009 reported net loss led to the higher leverage. As part of its
long-term strategy, the Company has resolved to maintain its
percentage of net debt to total capitalization to 40% or less. The
objective of the plan is to keep a strong balance sheet and
maintain the ability of the Company to access capital markets at
favourable rates. The Company remains committed to this
program.
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LONG-TERM DEBT
(in millions of dollars)

2008

2009

310

328

Tembec Inc. – 6% unsecured notes – September 2012

16

12

Tembec SAS debt

19

6

Tembec Envirofinance SAS debt

27

30

9

8

Bioenerg SAS debt

-

8

Proportionate share of Marathon debt (50%)

5

-

Tembec Industries – US $300 million bearing interest at LIBOR
(+700 basis points) or prime (+600 basis points) rate – February 2012

Tembec Energie SAS debt

Other debt
Current portion included in above

As part of the financial recapitalization that occurred in
February 2008, the Company entered into a loan agreement with
various lenders for a non-revolving term loan of US $300 million
due February 28, 2012. The facility is secured by a charge on the
assets of the Company’s material North American operations,
including a first priority charge on all assets except receivables
and inventories, where it has a second priority charge. The
increase of $18 million relates to the translation of the debt into
its Canadian dollar equivalent. The ending exchange rate for the
Canadian dollar in fiscal 2009 was US $0.916, compared to
US $0.968 at the end of the prior year.
As part of the financial recapitalization, the Company issued
$18 million of 6% unsecured notes having a maturity of
September 30, 2012. These notes are subject to an amortization
schedule and the amount of $4 million was repaid in fiscal 2009,
compared to $2 million in the prior year.

10
402

18

19

accounts receivable and/or inventories. Operating lines are used
primarily to fund short-term requirements associated with both
seasonal and cyclical inventory increases which can occur in the
Company’s business segments. The Company would not normally
draw on the operating lines to fund capital expenditures or normal
average working capital requirements. The operating lines are
established across multiple entities and jurisdictions to ensure
they meet the needs of the various operating units.
The following table summarizes the unused operating lines by
major area at the end of the last two fiscal years:

OPERATING LINES - UNUSED
(in millions of dollars)

Canadian operations
Tembec SAS debt declined by $13 million as a term loan secured
by an anticipated income tax refund was repaid when the refund
was received in fiscal 2009.

10
396

U.S. / French operations
Proportionate share of joint ventures

2008

2009

157

14

46

51

4

-

207

65

As noted previously, the Company is no longer consolidating its
proportionate share of the Marathon financial results.
At the end of September 2009, the Company had net cash of
$105 million plus unused operating lines of $65 million. At the
date of the previous audited financial statements, the Company
had net cash of $112 million and unused operating lines of
$207 million. The Company defines “operating lines” to include
loans of various durations which are secured by charges on

At the beginning of fiscal 2008, the Company’s Canadian
operations had in place a committed revolving working capital
facility of $250 million maturing in December 2009. The amount
available on the $250-million facility (borrowing base) was
$229 million, of which $135 million was unused. As part of the
financial recapitalization that occurred on February 29, 2008, the
Company negotiated a new $205-million revolving working
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capital facility maturing in December 2011. The new facility has
a first priority charge over the receivables and inventory and a
second priority charge over the remainder of the assets of the
Company’s significant North American operations. As of the end
of September 2009, the amount available on the $205-million
facility (borrowing base) was $150 million, of which an amount
of $14 million was unused. CIT Business Credit Canada Inc.
(CITBCC) is the agent and the lender holding the largest
commitment ($100 million) of the aforementioned facility.
CITBCC is jointly owned by Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
(CIBC) and CIT Group, Inc. (CIT). On November 1, 2009, CIT filed
under Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection from creditors in
the United States and announced a pre-packaged plan of
reorganization for CIT and a subsidiary that will restructure its
debt and streamline its capital structure. None of CIT’s operating
subsidiaries were included in this filing. While the Company
understands that CITBCC has separate and adequate funding, the
Company decided it was prudent to draw a further $45 million
under this facility in July 2009.

On December 19, 2007, the Company announced a proposed
financial recapitalization transaction. On February 22, 2008, the
transaction was approved by the Company’s shareholders and
the holders of its unsecured senior notes (the noteholders).
On February 29, 2008, the financial recapitalization was
implemented. The following were key elements of the plan:

The French operations are supported by several mill specific
“receivable factoring” agreements. As such, the borrowing
base fluctuates periodically, depending on shipments and cash
receipts. As at September 26, 2009, the amount available was
$73 million, of which an amount of $51 million was unused.

The warrants are convertible into an equal amount of common
shares and expire on February 29, 2012. They shall be deemed
to be exercised and shall be automatically converted into common
shares of the Company when the 20-day volume-weighted
average trading price of a single common share reaches or
exceeds $12 or immediately prior to any transaction that would
constitute a change of control.

- Conversion of US $1.2 billion of unsecured senior notes into
equity of the Company;
- The noteholders received 88% of the equity of the Company
in full settlement of their notes;
- An additional 7% of the equity was allocated to noteholders
who backstopped a new US $300 million four-year term loan;
- Existing shareholders received 5% of the equity of the
Company and 11,111,111 warrants to acquire common shares
of the Company.

COMMON SHARES
(in millions)

Shares outstanding - opening
Financial recapitalization
- Conversion of existing equity
- Issued to existing equity
Financial recapitalization
- Issued to unsecured
senior noteholders
Shares outstanding - ending

2008

2009

85.6

100.0

(85.6)
5.0

-

95.0

-

100.0

100.0

In addition to the previously noted warrants, an additional
185,031 shares may be issued pursuant to options granted under
the prior Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). The exercise price of
the options ranges from $16.61 per share to $306.85 per share
with expiry dates from 2010 to 2016. As at September 26,
2009, 149,103 options were exercisable. At the end of the prior
year, 201,456 shares were issuable pursuant to options. The
exercise price of the options ranged from $16.61 per share to
$306.85 per share and a total of 135,465 were exercisable.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
(in millions of dollars)

Total

Within 1
year

2-3
years

4-5
years

After 5
years

409

21

353

18

17

Interest on long-term debt

64

26

36

1

1

Operating leases

23

6

9

4

4

181

73

67

19

22

Normal cost

171

10

21

22

118

Contractual

109

13

35

26

35

957

149

521

90

197

Long-term debt

Purchase obligations
Pension obligations:

The table above shows the Company’s contractual obligations as
at September 26, 2009. The Company has long-term debt with
contractual maturities and applicable interest. The operating lease
obligations relate primarily to property and equipment rentals
entered into in the normal course of business. Purchase
obligations relate to ongoing normal commercial commitments
to purchase timber, wood chips, energy, chemicals and other

operating inputs. They also include outstanding obligations
relating to capital expenditures. Pension obligations have two
components. The normal cost obligations are limited to a tenyear period and are based on estimated future employee service
for existing registered defined benefit plans. Contractual
obligations include estimated solvency and going concern
amortization payments.
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2008 vs. 2007
FINANCIAL SUMMARY
(in millions of dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Sales
EBITDA
Depreciation and amortization
Other items

2007

Five months to
February 29,
2008

Seven months to
September 27,
2008

2,750

950

1,426

65

(17)

38

173

72

51

(227)

(20)

(5)

Operating earnings (loss)

119

(69)

(8)

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations

150

(98)

(41)

Net loss

(49)

(102)

(48)

Net loss per share - basic

(0.58)

(1.19)

(0.48)

Diluted loss per share

(0.58)

(1.19)

(0.48)

Total assets (at year end)

2,655

N/A

1,619

Total long-term debt (at year end) (1)

1,340

N/A

396

(1)

includes current portion

Sales decreased by $374 million as compared to the prior year.
The decline was the result of lower sales volumes in all segments.
Pricing in all segments was negatively impacted by currency as
the Canadian dollar averaged US $0.991, a 10% increase from
US $0.900 in the prior year. Forest Products segment sales
declined by $215 million as a result of lower prices and
shipments. Pulp segment sales decreased by $48 million as a
result of lower shipments, partially offset by higher prices. Paper
segment sales declined by $74 million as a result of lower selling
prices and shipments.

EBITDA declined by $44 million over the prior year. The Forest
Products segment’s EBITDA declined by $4 million as lower prices
more than offset the impact of lower costs. The segment
benefited from a $20 million favourable adjustment to the
carrying values of log and lumber inventories as increasing lumber
selling prices led to higher projected net realizable values. The
Pulp segment’s EBITDA declined by $31 million as higher
manufacturing costs, primarily fibre and energy related, exceeded
the positive impact of higher selling prices. The Paper segment’s
EBITDA declined by $14 million as a result of lower prices.
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OPERATING EARNINGS (LOSS)
(in millions of dollars)

2007
Forest Products

2008

Total
variance

EBITDA
variance

Depreciation &
amortization
variance

Other
items
variance

129

(90)

(219)

(4)

17

(232)

Pulp

46

59

13

(31)

12

32

Paper

(27)

(25)

2

(14)

18

(2)

6

6

-

(1)

1

-

Chemicals
Corporate

(35)

(27)

119

(77)

The Company generated an operating loss of $77 million
compared to operating earnings of $119 million in the prior year.
In addition to the previously noted $44 million deterioration in
EBITDA, the balance of the decline related to unusual items. In
the prior year, the Company recorded a credit of $238 million
pertaining to the recovery of lumber export duties on deposit
with the U.S. Department of Commerce. As a partial offset,
depreciation expense declined by $50 million. In February 2008,
the Company applied fresh start accounting and the carrying
values of fixed assets were reduced by $804 million.
Interest on long-term debt declined by $70 million as a result of
the Company’s financial recapitalization. In the prior year, the
Company had US $1.2 billion of senior unsecured notes in
circulation. In December 2007, the Company announced the
details of its proposed recapitalization transaction. During the
months of January and February 2008, no interest was paid on
the senior unsecured notes. On February 29, the notes were
converted into new shares of Tembec and a new US $300-million
term loan was put in place. In the prior year, the Company
received a total of US $242 million as a refund of lumber duties.
The refund was divided into two components in the financial
statements. An amount of $238 million was credited to operating
earnings and a further $30 million was shown as interest income.
During the five-month period ended February 29, 2008, the
Company recorded a gain of $12 million on its US $ denominated
debt as the relative value of the Canadian dollar increased from
US $1.005 to US $1.016. During the same five-month period,
the euro appreciated from C $1.419 to C $1.494 and the

8
(196)

6

2

(44)

50

(202)

Company recorded a loss of $3 million on the translation of
its euro-denominated debt. During the seven-month period
ended September 27, 2008, the Company recorded a loss of
$14 million on its new US $300-million loan as the relative value
of the Canadian dollar decreased from US $1.016 to US $0.968.
In addition, the Company recorded a loss of $1 million on the
translation of its euro-denominated debt as the relative value of
the euro increased from C $1.494 to C $1.509. In the prior year,
the Company recorded a gain of $147 million on the translation
of its US $ denominated debt as the relative value of the
Canadian dollar increased from US $0.895 to US $1.005.
During the year ended September 2008, the Company recorded
an income tax expense of $11 million on a pre-tax loss from
continuing operations of $128 million. The income tax expense
reflected a $52 million unfavourable variance versus an
anticipated income tax recovery of $41 million based on the
Company’s effective tax rate of 31.9%. The non-recognition of
period losses increased the income tax expense by $52 million.
Based on past financial performance, future income tax assets of
the Company’s Canadian operations have been limited to the
amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
During fiscal 2007, the Company recorded an income tax
expense of $1 million on pre-tax earnings from continuing
operations of $150 million. The income tax expense reflected a
$49 million favourable variance versus an anticipated income tax
expense of $50 million based on the Company’s effective tax rate
of 33.3 %. The non-taxable portion of the gain on translation
of US $ denominated debt reduced the income tax expense by

TEMBEC Financial Report 2009
39

$21 million. The recognition of prior period losses decreased the
income tax expense by $20 million. Based on past financial
performance, future income tax assets of the Company’s
Canadian operations have been limited to the amount that is more
likely than not to be recovered. Finally, the rate differential
between jurisdictions decreased the income tax expense by
$10 million.
The financial results of the St. Francisville paper mill have been
classified as discontinued operations. During the year ended

September 2008, the operation generated a loss of $11 million.
In the prior year, the facility had generated a loss of $199 million,
including $173 million relating to asset impairment.
The Company generated a net loss of $102 million or $1.19 per
share for the five-month period ended February 29, 2008 and a
net loss of $48 million or $0.48 per share for the seven-month
period ended September 27, 2008 compared to a net loss of
$49 million or $0.58 per share in the prior year.

Risks and Uncertainties
FUTURE OPERATIONS
Current economic conditions combined with difficult market
fundamentals for certain of the Company’s principal products,
namely lumber and newsprint, are negatively impacting EBITDA
and cash flows from operations. Should these conditions
deteriorate further or persist for an extended period of time,
there is a risk that the Company’s liquidity will decline to levels
where it will not be able to discharge all its obligations as they
become due. Management is monitoring the situation very
closely. On a quarterly basis, updated rolling 12-month forecasts
are prepared which include revised assumptions relating to
product pricing and production levels, foreign exchange rates,
operating cash flows, debt service costs, pension funding
requirements and CAPEX. The ongoing availability of the
Company’s operating lines of credit is also analyzed.
In an effort to mitigate the impact of the current conditions, a
list of liquidity enhancing initiatives totalling $100 million was
developed in fiscal 2009. The majority of the initiatives relate to
the sale of non-core assets. As of the date of this report,
approximately $27 million has been achieved and it is anticipated
that the remaining $73 million will be realized in fiscal 2010.
Management believes that effective and diligent management of
its operations and financial resources will allow the Company to
meet all of its obligations as they become due.

PRODUCT PRICES
The Company’s financial performance is dependent on the selling
prices of its products. The markets for most lumber, pulp and
paper products are cyclical and are influenced by a variety of
factors. These factors include periods of excess product supply
due to industry capacity additions, periods of decreased demand
due to weak general economic activity, inventory de-stocking by
customers, and fluctuations in currency exchange rates. During
periods of low prices, the Company is subject to reduced
revenues and margins, resulting in substantial declines in
profitability and possibly net losses.
Based on 2010 planned sales volumes, the following table
illustrates the approximate annual impact of changes to average
Canadian dollar selling prices on after-tax earnings.

SELLING PRICE SENSITIVITY
Impact on
after-tax earnings
($ millions)

Average
selling prices ($)
Sept. 2009 quarter

Pulp - $25/tonne

28

686

Paper - $25/tonne

7

849

SPF lumber - $10/mbf

6

323
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The Company’s strategy is to mitigate price volatility by
maintaining operations in three core sectors, namely wood
products, pulp and paper; maintaining low cost, high quality
flexible production facilities; establishing and developing longterm relationships with its customers; developing specialty
niche products where possible. In addition, the Company may
periodically purchase lumber, pulp and newsprint price hedges to
mitigate the impact of price volatility. At September 26, 2009,
the Company did not hold any product price hedges. At
September 27, 2008, the Company held lumber futures equal to
approximately 3% of its annual SPF lumber capacity. The fair value
of the contracts was $1 million.

Based on 2010 planned sales volumes and prices, the following
table illustrates the impact of a 1% change in the value of the
US dollar versus the Canadian dollar and the euro. For illustrative
purposes, an increase of 1% in the value of the US dollar is
assumed. A decrease would have the opposite effects of those
shown below.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE SENSITIVITY
(in millions of dollars)

Sales increase
Cost of sales increase

FOREIGN EXCHANGE
The Company’s revenues for most of its products are affected
by fluctuations in the relative exchange rates of the Canadian
dollar, the US dollar and the euro. The prices for many products,
including those sold in Canada and Europe are generally driven
by US $ reference prices of similar products. The Company
generates approximately $1.5 billion of US $ denominated sales
annually from its Canadian and European operations. As a result,
any decrease in the value of the US dollar relative to the Canadian
dollar and the euro reduces the amount of revenues realized on
sales in local currency. In addition, since business units purchase
the majority of their production inputs in local currency,
fluctuations in foreign exchange can significantly affect the
unit’s relative cost position when compared to competing
manufacturing sites in other currency jurisdictions. This could
result in the unit’s inability to maintain its operations during
periods of low prices and/or demand.

EBITDA increase
Interest expense increase
Cash flow increase
Loss on US $ debt translation
Pre-tax earnings increase

15
2
13
13
3
10

Tax expense increase

4

Net earnings increase

6

Direct US $ purchases of raw materials, supplies and services
provide a partial offset to the impact on sales. This does not
include the potential indirect impact of currency on the cost of
items purchased in the local currency.
To further reduce the impact of fluctuations in the value of the
US dollar, the Company has adopted a policy which permits hedging
up to 50% of its anticipated US $ receipts for up to 36 months
in duration. At September 26, 2009 and September 27, 2008,
the Company did not hold any foreign exchange contracts.
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OPERATIONAL RISKS
The manufacturing activities conducted by the Company’s
operations are subject to a number of risks including availability
and price of fibre, competitive prices for purchased energy, a
productive and reliable workforce, compliance with environmental
regulations, maintenance and replacement/upgrade of process
equipment to manufacture competitive quality products and the
requirement to operate the manufacturing facilities at high rates
of utilization and efficiency to maintain a competitive cost
structure.
Fibre represents the Company’s major raw material in the
production of wood products, pulp and paper. In Canada, virgin
fibre or timber is sourced primarily by agreements with provincial
governments. The agreements are granted for various terms from
five to 25 years and are generally subject to regular renewals
every five years. The agreements incorporate commitments with
respect to sustainable forest management, silvicultural work,
forest and soil renewal, as well as cooperation with other forest
users. In addition, the Company has undertaken, on a voluntary
basis, to have its timber harvesting certified by the Forest
Stewardship Council (FSC). The Company expects the
agreements to be extended as they come up for renewal.
Aboriginal groups have claimed substantial portions of land in
various provinces over which they claim aboriginal title or in which
they have a traditional interest and for which they are seeking
compensation from various levels of government. The Company
has taken a proactive approach to enhance the economic
participation of First Nations in its operations wherever
feasible. The Company’s operations in France source their fibre
requirements from various private sources, primarily through
long-term supply arrangements.
Energy is an important component of mill costs, especially for
high-yield pulp mills and newsprint mills. In 2009, purchased
energy costs totalled approximately $168 million, 60% of which
was electricity. Electrical purchases are made primarily from large
public utilities, at rates set by regulating bodies. In certain
jurisdictions, electricity is deregulated which can lead to greater
price volatility. To mitigate the effect of price fluctuations on its
financial performance, the Company employs several tactics,
including the securing of longer term supply agreements, the
purchase of derivative financial instruments and operational
curtailments in periods of high prices (load shedding). At
September 2009 and September 2008, the Company did not
hold any derivative financial instruments relating to purchased
electricity. Fossil fuels, primarily natural gas, are purchased at

market rates. The Company periodically purchases derivative
financial instruments to hedge its exposure. At September 26,
2009 and September 27, 2008, the Company did not hold any
natural gas hedges.
Nearly all the Company’s manufacturing units have a unionized
workforce. Over the past 30 years, the Company has successfully
negotiated new collective agreements in nearly all instances, with
relatively few work stoppages. At many of the Company’s
facilities, as well as those of the North American industry as a
whole, we have seen reductions in employment levels resulting
from technological and process improvements resulting in a
workforce with more years of service. This increases the relative
costs of pensions and benefits. At September 2009, the
Company had approximately 4,300 hourly paid employees
covered by collective bargaining agreements. At September 26,
2009, there were 17 agreements covering 1,400 employees
that had expired. During fiscal 2010, a total of 18 agreements
covering 1,700 employees will expire. The remaining contracts
expire at various dates up to April 2012. The Company
anticipates it will reach satisfactory agreements on contracts
currently under active negotiations and those expiring in the
future.
The Company’s operations are subject to industry specific
environmental regulations relating to air emissions, wastewater
(effluent) discharges, solid waste, landfill operations, forestry
practices, and site remediation. The Company has made
significant progress in reducing the environmental impact of its
operations over the last 15 years. This has occurred as a result
of changes in manufacturing processes, the installation of
specialized equipment to treat/eliminate the materials being
discharged and the implementation of standardized practices
such as ISO 14001.
The production of pulp and paper products is capital intensive.
The Company estimates it must spend approximately $50 million
to $60 million per year on capital expenditures to avoid
degradation of its current operations.
Because of the relatively high fixed cost component of certain
manufacturing processes, especially in pulp and paper, the
operations are 24/7 with target efficiency in the 80-85% range.
Failure to operate at these levels jeopardizes the continued
existence of a mill. Producers are forced to operate the facilities
at “full” rate even when demand is not sufficient to absorb all of
the output. This can lead to over supply and lower prices, further
increasing the inherent cyclicality of the industry.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

TRADE RESTRICTIONS / LUMBER EXPORT TAXES
The Company’s manufacturing operations are located primarily in
Canada. However, sales into the Canadian market represented
only 18% of consolidated sales in 2009. As such, the Company’s
financial results are highly dependant on its ability to sell its
products into the “export” markets. Tariffs and trade barriers that
reduce or prohibit the movement of our products across
international borders constitute an ongoing risk. The agreement
between Canada and the United States over softwood lumber is
a case in point. In May 2002, the U.S. Department of Commerce
initially assessed the Company with aggregate countervailing and
antidumping duties at an average rate of 29%. On October 12,
2006, Canada and the United States entered into an agreement
to govern the shipment of Canadian softwood lumber into the
United States. As part of the agreement, the Company received
a US $242-million payment on October 30, 2006, pertaining to
the recovery of lumber duties on deposit with the Department
of Commerce (DOC) that had accumulated since May 2002. The
outcome was less than satisfactory. Through a combination of
quotas and export taxes, the agreement will ensure that Canadian
producers of softwood lumber will remain at a competitive
disadvantage versus U.S. producers when it comes to accessing
the U.S. market.

FINANCIAL RISKS / DEBT SERVICE
Of the total long-term debt of $402 million, 82% relates to a
US $300-million term loan expiring February 2012. The term loan
does not require periodic payments for principal amortization.
Since the entire principal amount will become due on the maturity
date, it is possible the Company will not have the required
funds/liquidity to repay the principal due. The Company may
require access to the public or private debt markets to issue new
debt instruments to replace or partially replace the term loan.
There is no assurance that the Company will be able to refinance
this loan on commercially acceptable terms. The Company’s
objective is to maintain a relatively modest debt level and improve
its financial results prior to the maturity of the term loan.
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Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and the
Company’s Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial
Officer have designed, or caused to be designed under their
supervision, disclosure controls and procedures to provide
reasonable assurance that material information relating to the
Company has been made known to them and that information
required to be disclosed in the Company’s annual filings, interim
filings or other reports filed by it or submitted by it under
securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and

reported within the time periods specified by applicable securities
legislation. The Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer
and the Company’s Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief
Financial Officer have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under
their supervision, the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures and have determined, based on that
evaluation, that such disclosure controls and procedures are
effective at the financial year end.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and the
Company’s Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial
Officer have designed, or caused to be designed under their
supervision, internal control over financial reporting as defined
under National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure
in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with GAAP. The Company’s President and Chief

Executive Officer and the Company’s Executive Vice President,
Finance and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated, or caused to
be evaluated under their supervision, the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and have
determined, based on the criteria established in Internal Control
– Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and on this
evaluation, that such internal controls over financial reporting
are effective at the financial year end.

Changes in Internal Controls
During the period covered by this report, there have been no changes that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect Tembec’s internal control over financial reporting.

Oversight Role of Audit Committee and Board of Directors
The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s annual MD&A and
related financial statements with management and the external
auditors, and recommends their approval to the Board.
Management and the internal auditor of the Company also
present periodically to the Committee a report of their

assessment of the Company’s internal controls and procedures
for financial reporting. The external auditor periodically prepares
for management a report on internal control weaknesses
identified during the course of the auditor’s annual audit, which
is reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Additional Information
Additional information relating to Tembec, including the Annual Information Form, can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on
the Company’s website at www.tembec.com.

Management
Responsibility
The consolidated financial statements and all information in the Financial Report are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP) and, where necessary, include amounts which are based on best estimates and judgement. Financial information
presented throughout the Financial Report is consistent with the data presented in the consolidated financial statements.
A system of internal accounting and administrative controls is maintained by management in order to provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are appropriately authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide accurate
and reliable financial statements.
The Company’s external auditors are responsible for auditing the consolidated financial statements and giving an opinion thereon. The
external auditors also prepare for management a report on internal control weaknesses identified during the course of the annual audit.
In addition, the Company employs internal auditors to evaluate the effectiveness of its systems, policies and procedures.
The Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee, consisting solely of independent directors, which reviews the consolidated
financial statements and recommends their approval to the Board of Directors. The Committee meets periodically with the external
auditors, the internal auditors and management to review their respective activities and the discharge of each of their responsibilities.
Both the external and internal auditors have direct access to the Committee to discuss the scope of their audit work and the adequacy
of internal control systems and financial reporting procedures.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been audited by the external auditors, KPMG LLP, whose report follows.

JAMES M. LOPEZ
President and Chief Executive Officer

November 6, 2009

MICHEL J. DUMAS
Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer
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Auditors’ Report
to the Shareholders
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Tembec Inc. as at September 26, 2009 and September 27, 2008, the consolidated
statements of operations and deficit and cash flows for the year ended September 26, 2009, and the seven-month period ended
September 27, 2008, and of the Predecessor for the five-month period ended February 29, 2008. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan
and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as
at September 26, 2009 and September 27, 2008, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended
September 26, 2009, and the seven-month period ended September 27, 2008, and of the Predecessor for the five-month period
ended February 29, 2008, in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

Chartered Accountants

Montréal, Canada
November 6, 2009

*CA Auditor permit nº 8821

Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions of dollars)

Sept. 26,
2009
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Derivative financial instruments (note 18)
Accounts receivable (notes 8 and 18)
Inventories (notes 4 and 8)
Prepaid expenses
Current assets of discontinued operations (note 3)

$

Investments
Fixed assets (note 6)
Other assets (note 7)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Bank indebtedness
Operating bank loans (note 8)
Accounts payable and accrued charges
Interest payable
Current portion of long-term debt (note 9)
Current liabilities related to discontinued operations (note 3)

James M. Lopez
President and Chief Executive Officer

720

920

15
626
5

9
668
22
$

1,619

$

–
118
275
3
19
3

$

1
49
375
3
18
3

$

James V. Continenza
Chairman of the Board

113
1
371
414
19
2

1,366

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital (note 11)
Contributed surplus (note 3)
Deficit

On behalf of the Board:

$

$

Long-term debt (note 9)
Other long-term liabilities and credits (note 10)
Future income taxes (note 16)
Minority interest
Non-current liabilities related to discontinued operations (note 3)

Guarantees, commitments and contingencies (note 12)
Subsequent event (note 20)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

105
–
283
319
13
–

Sept. 27,
2008

418

449

383
219
–
–
33

378
229
2
1
38

570
5
(262)

570
–
(48)

313

522

1,366

$

1,619
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND DEFICIT
Year ended September 26, 2009,
seven-month period ended September 27, 2008 and five-month period ended February 29, 2008
(in millions of dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Company

Sales

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

$

Freight and sales deductions
Lumber export taxes (note 12)
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization (note 13)
Restructuring and asset impairment charges (credits) (note 14)
Gain on land sales and other (note 14)
Operating loss from continuing operations

1,786

$

1,426

$

950

224
4
1,578
88
73
3
(6)

181
7
1,139
61
51
(3)
(2)

111
4
804
48
72
–
(20)

(178)

(8)

(69)

Interest, foreign exchange and other (note 15)

22

13

32

Exchange loss (gain) on long-term debt

21

15

(9)

(36)

(92)

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes
and minority interest

(221)

Income tax expense (recovery) (note 16)

(1)

5

6

Minority interest

(1)

–

–

(41)

(98)

(7)

(4)

(48)

(102)

–

(271)

(48)
–

(373)
373

(219)

Net loss from continuing operations

5

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (note 3)

(214)

Net loss and comprehensive loss

(48)

Deficit, beginning of year

(262)
–

Adjustment for fresh start accounting
Deficit, end of year

$

(262)

$

(48)

$

Basic and diluted loss per share from
continuing operations (note 11)

$

(2.19)

$

(0.41)

$

(1.14)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share from
discontinued operations (note 3)

$

0.05

$

(0.07)

$

(0.05)

Basic and diluted loss per share (note 11)

$

(2.14)

$

(0.48)

$

(1.19)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

–
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended September 26, 2009,
seven-month period ended September 27, 2008 and five-month period ended February 29, 2008
(in millions of dollars)

Company

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization (note 13)
Unrealized foreign exchange and others
Exchange loss (gain) on long-term debt
Future income taxes (notes 3 and 16)
Investment tax credits and income tax refunds
Restructuring and asset impairment charges (credits) (note 14)
Gain on land sales and other (note 14)
Gain on sale of mill site – discontinued operations (note 3)
Differences between cash contributions and pension expense
Other

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

$

$

73
(4)
21
3
17
3
(6)
(16)
(9)
–

Changes in non-cash working capital:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued charges

Cash flows from investing activities:
Reduced participation in joint ventures
Additions to fixed assets
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets
Proceeds on sale of mill site – discontinued operations (note 3)
Proceeds on land sales and other
Decrease in investments
Other
Cash flows from financing activities:
Change in operating bank loans
Increase in long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Change in other long-term liabilities
Recapitalization fees and other

Foreign exchange loss (gain) on cash and cash equivalents
held in foreign currencies
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, net of bank indebtedness,
beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, net of bank indebtedness, end of period

(214)

$

(102)

51
(2)
15
1
(1)
(3)
(2)
–
(11)
4

72
(2)
(9)
6
(7)
–
(20)
–
(8)
5

(132)

4

(65)

82
86
6
(103)

(35)
35
–
29

22
(54)
(4)
(26)

71

29

(62)

(61)

33

(127)

18
(42)
–
7
1
4
1

6
(42)
2
–
–
22
2

(5)
(23)
–
–
17
2
1

(11)

(10)

(8)

69
9
(20)
–
5

(13)
5
(9)
(2)
–

(27)
300
(5)
(3)
(36)

63

(19)

229

(9)

4

94

2

(1)

1

(7)

3

95

109

14

112
$

(48)

105

$

112

$

109

Interest paid in 2009 totalled $37 million (seven months ended September 2008 – $21 million; five months ended February 2008 – $48 million) and
income taxes recovered amounted to $16 million (seven months ended September 2008 – $1 million; five months ended February 2008 – $1 million).
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION
(in millions of dollars)

The Company
Year ended September 26, 2009
Forest
Products

Pulp

$ 304
103

$ 932
78

$ 452
–

407

1,010

452

98

Paper Chemicals

Corporate
and other

Consolidated

Sales:
External
Internal

Earnings (loss) before the following:
Depreciation and amortization
(note 13)
Other items (note 14)
Operating earnings (loss)
from continuing operations
Net fixed asset additions:
Gross fixed asset additions
Proceeds from disposal

Identifiable assets – excluding cash
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents

$

98
–

$

–
4

$

4

(67)

(61)

27

10

24
(3)

44
(4)

3
2

2
1

–
1

(88)

(101)

22

7

(18)

1,786
185
1,971

(17)

(108)
73
(3)
(178)

6
–

31
–

4
–

1
–

–
–

42
–

6

31

4

1

–

42

251

833

126

38

13

1,261
105
$

Total assets

1,366

The Company
Seven months ended September 27, 2008
Forest
Products

Pulp

Paper

$ 276
86

$ 810
36

$ 270
–

362

846

270

73

1

(29)

68

9

5

(15)

38

16
(3)

31
–

2
–

2
–

–
(2)

51
(5)

(42)

37

7

3

(13)

(8)

7
(1)

31
(1)

3
–

1
–

–
–

42
(2)

6

30

3

1

–

40

296

979

170

50

11

1,506
113

Chemicals

Corporate
and other

Consolidated

Sales:
External
Internal

Earnings (loss) before the following:
Depreciation and amortization
(note 13)
Other items (note 14)
Operating earnings (loss)
from continuing operations
Net fixed asset additions:
Gross fixed asset additions
Proceeds from disposal

Identifiable assets – excluding cash
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

$

70
3

$

–
1

$

1,426
126
1,552

$

1,619

Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(in millions of dollars)

The Predecessor
Five months ended February 29, 2008
Forest
Products

Pulp

Paper

$ 196
59

$ 533
31

$ 165
–

255

564

165

57

2

(43)

50

(18)

4

(10)

(17)

23
(18)

31
(3)

15
(1)

1
–

2
2

72
(20)

(48)

22

(32)

3

(14)

(69)

2
–

19
–

2
–

1
–

(1)
–

23
–

2

19

2

1

(1)

23

Chemicals

Corporate
and other

Consolidated

Sales:
External
Internal

Earnings (loss) before the following:
Depreciation and amortization
(note 13)
Other items (note 14)
Operating earnings (loss)
from continuing operations
Net fixed asset additions:
Gross fixed asset additions
Proceeds from disposal

$

56
1

$

–
2

$

950
93
1,043
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CONSOLIDATED GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENT INFORMATION
Year ended September 26, 2009,
seven-month period ended September 27, 2008, and five-month period ended February 29, 2008
(in millions of dollars)

The Company
Year ended September 26, 2009
Forest
Products
Sales (by final destination):
Canada
United States
Pacific Rim and India
United Kingdom, Europe and other

Pulp

$ 190
110
4
–

$

19
176
278
459

$ 304

$ 932

Paper Chemicals
$

Consolidated

75
349
4
24

$

42
32
2
22

$

326
667
288
505

$ 452

$

98

$

1,786

The Company
Seven months ended September 27, 2008
Forest
Products
Sales (by final destination):
Canada
United States
Pacific Rim and India
United Kingdom, Europe and other

Pulp

$ 142
133
–
1

$

23
113
282
392

$ 276

$ 810

Paper
$

Chemicals

Consolidated

40
209
6
15

$

31
23
2
14

$

236
478
290
422

$ 270

$

70

$

1,426

The Predecessor
Five months ended February 29, 2008
Forest
Products
Sales (by final destination):
Canada
United States
Pacific Rim and India
United Kingdom, Europe and other

Pulp

$ 108
87
–
1

$

15
78
171
269

$ 196

$ 533

Paper
$

Chemicals

Consolidated

27
128
–
10

$

28
17
1
10

$

178
310
172
290

$ 165

$

56

$

950

Sept. 26,
2009
Fixed assets:
Canada
United States
United Kingdom, Europe and other

Sept. 27,
2008

$

448
2
176

$

492
2
174

$

626

$

668

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Current economic conditions combined with difficult market fundamentals for certain of the Company’s principal products, namely
lumber and newsprint, are negatively impacting cash flows from operations. Should these conditions deteriorate further or persist for
an extended period of time, there is a risk that the Company’s liquidity will decline to levels where it may not be able to discharge all
its obligations as they become due. Management is monitoring the situation very closely and believes that effective management of
its operations and financial resources will allow the Company to continue to meet all of its obligations as they become due. Accordingly,
these consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.
PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT
On February 29, 2008, the Predecessor implemented the plan of arrangement approved by the Ontario Superior Court having the
following key elements:
-

Conversion of US $1.2 billion of the Predecessor’s senior unsecured debt into equity of the Company;
Noteholders received 88% of the equity of the Company in full settlement of their notes;
An additional 7% of the equity of the Company was allocated to noteholders who backstopped the new loan described below;
Existing shareholders received 5% of the equity of the Company and “cashless” warrants to acquire additional shares; and
A new four-year term loan of US $300 million was obtained to provide additional liquidity.

The Company’s balance sheet as at February 29, 2008, was prepared under the provisions of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants (CICA) Handbook Section (HB) 1625, Comprehensive Revaluation of Assets and Liabilities (fresh start accounting). Under
fresh start accounting, the Company was required to determine its enterprise value. The enterprise value of $570 million was
determined based on the fair value of the unsecured debt converted into equity and of the issuance of common shares and cashless
warrants to the shareholders of the Predecessor. In conjunction with the Predecessor’s reorganization proceedings, independent third
party valuations were also obtained to assist with the allocation of the fair value to the individual assets and liabilities.
The Predecessor’s financial information is presented to provide additional information for the reader. In reviewing the Predecessor’s
financial information, readers are reminded that they do not reflect the effects of the financial reorganization. Certain amounts
presented in the Predecessor’s financial information have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted by the Company.
Detailed information on the plan of arrangement, the impact of adjustments and fresh start accounting is available in the annual audited
financial statements as at September 27, 2008.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP),
which require management to make assumptions and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF VALUATION
With the application of fresh start accounting on February 29, 2008, by the Company, all assets and liabilities were reported at fair
values as further described in note 1. Goodwill is not recorded under GAAP applicable to fresh start accounting. In addition, a review
of the estimated remaining useful life of certain fixed assets was also undertaken. The review indicated that the estimated useful life
of several Pulp segment fixed assets was longer than originally anticipated and periodic future depreciation expense should be reduced.
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the Predecessor, Tembec Inc. (the ‘’Corporation’’),
and all its subsidiaries and joint ventures (collectively ‘’Tembec’’ or the ‘’Company’’). Investments over which the Corporation has
effective control are fully consolidated. Investments over which the Corporation exercises significant influence are accounted for by
the equity method. The Corporation’s interest in joint ventures is accounted for by the proportionate consolidation method.
BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY
The Company operates an integrated forest products business. The performance of each segment is evaluated by the management
of the Company against short-term and long-term financial objectives, as well as environmental, safety and other key criteria. The
Forest Products segment consists primarily of forest and sawmill operations, which produce lumber and building materials. The Pulp
segment includes the manufacturing and marketing activities of a number of different types of pulps. The Paper segment consists
primarily of production and sales of newsprint and bleached board. The Chemicals segment consists primarily of the transformation
and sale of resins and pulp by-products. Intersegment transfers of wood chips, pulp and other services are recorded at transfer prices
agreed to by the parties, which are intended to approximate fair value. The accounting policies used in these business segments are
the same as those described below.
CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
In January 2009, the CICA Emerging Issues Committee issued Abstract 173, Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities, effective for interim and annual financial statements for the periods ended after January 19, 2009. This
interpretation must be applied retrospectively without restatement of prior periods. This Abstract clarifies that the Company must
consider its own credit risk and the credit risk of a counterparty in the determination of the fair value of derivative instruments. This
Abstract did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant areas requiring the use of management
estimates are: useful lives of plant and equipment, value of investments, impairment of long-lived assets, employee future benefits,
income taxes, asset retirement obligations and environmental accruals. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

REVENUE
The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, goods have been delivered, there are no
uncertainties surrounding product acceptance, the related revenue is fixed and determinable and collection is reasonably assured.
Revenues are recorded using the gross method.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company classifies its cash and cash equivalents as held-for-trading. Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables.
The Company’s investments consist mainly of long-term advances and loans receivable which are classified as loans and receivables.
Bank indebtedness, operating bank loans, accounts payable and accrued charges, long-term debt, including interest payable, are
classified as other liabilities, all of which are measured at amortized cost. The Company has elected to measure all derivatives and
embedded derivatives at fair value and the Company has maintained its policy not to use hedge accounting.
Transaction costs incurred upon the issuance of debt instruments or modification of a financial liability are now deducted from the
financial liability and are amortized using the effective interest method over the expected life of the related liability.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents, including cash on hand, demand deposits, banker’s acceptances and commercial paper with maturities of
three months or less from date of purchase, are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value.
INVENTORIES
Finished goods and work in process are valued at the lower of cost, determined on an average cost basis, and net realizable value.
Wood chips, logs and other raw materials are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. For all raw materials to be used in the
production of finished goods, net realizable value is determined on an as converted to finished goods basis. Operating, maintenance
and spare parts inventories are valued at lower of cost and net realizable value.
INVESTMENTS
Investments in affiliated companies in which Tembec has no significant influence are carried at cost. Investments over which the
Company exercises significant influence are accounted for by the equity method.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FIXED ASSETS AND GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE
Fixed assets are recorded at cost after deducting investment tax credits and government assistance. Depreciation and amortization
are provided over their estimated useful lives, generally on a straight-line basis, as follows:
Assets
Buildings, pulp and newsprint production equipment
Sawmill production equipment
Paperboard mill production equipment

Period
20 - 30 years
10 - 15 years
25 - 30 years

Certain forest access roads and timber holdings are depreciated in relation to the volume of wood cut, and certain machinery and
equipment are depreciated using units of production method. Repairs and maintenance as well as planned shutdown maintenance are
charged to expense as incurred.
Capitalized interest is based on the average cost of construction of major projects in progress during the year, using interest rates
actually paid on long-term debt.
IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment upon the occurrence of events or changes in circumstances indicating that the carrying
value of the assets may not be recoverable, as measured by comparing their net book value to the estimated undiscounted future
cash flows generated by their use. Impaired assets are recorded at fair value, determined principally by using discounted future cash
flows expected from their use and eventual disposition.
OTHER ASSETS
Timber rights are amortized on a straight-line basis over a period not exceeding 40 years.
Assets held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and fair value less cost to sell.
ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS
The Company is subject to environmental laws and regulations enacted by federal, provincial, state and local authorities. Environmental
expenditures that will benefit the Company in future years are recorded at cost and capitalized as part of fixed assets. Depreciation is
charged to income over the estimated future benefit period of the assets. Environmental expenditures, that are not expected to
provide a benefit to the Company in future periods, are accrued and expensed to earnings, on a site-by-site basis, when a requirement
to remedy an environmental exposure is probable and cost can be reasonably estimated.
ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS
Asset retirement obligations are recognized, at fair value, in the period in which the Company incurs a legal obligation associated with
the retirement of an asset. The associated costs are capitalized as part of the carrying value of the related asset and depreciated over
its remaining useful life. The liability is accreted using a credit adjusted risk-free interest rate.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS
Employee future benefits include pension plans and other employee future benefit plans. Other employee future benefit plans include
post-retirement life insurance programs, health care and dental care benefits as well as certain post-employment benefits provided
to disabled employees. Registered pension plans are funded in accordance with applicable legislation and their assets are held by an
independent trustee. The obligations of non-registered pension plans and other employee future benefit plans are funded by the
Company as they become due.
The Company accrues the cost of defined benefit plans as determined by independent actuaries based on assumptions determined by
the Company. The net periodic benefit cost includes:
-

The cost of employee future benefits provided in exchange for employees’ services rendered during the year;
The interest cost on employee future benefit obligations;
The expected return on pension fund assets based on the fair value of plan assets;
Gains or losses on settlements or curtailments where, when the restructuring of a defined benefit plan gives rise to both a curtailment
and a settlement of obligations, the curtailment is accounted for prior to the settlement;
- The straight-line amortization of past service costs and plan amendments over the average remaining service period to full eligibility
of the active employee group covered by the defined benefit plans or the average remaining lifetime of those entitled to benefits
for plans covering only inactive participants; and
- The amortization of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the accrued benefit
obligation or fair value of plan assets at the beginning of year, over the average remaining service period of the active employee
group covered by the defined benefit plans or the average remaining lifetime of those entitled to benefits for plans covering only
inactive participants.
The employee future benefit obligations are determined in accordance with the projected benefit method prorated on services.
TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Monetary assets and liabilities of domestic and integrated foreign operations denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
year-end exchange rates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities of integrated foreign operations are translated at the historical rate
relevant for the particular asset or liability. The exchange gains or losses resulting from the translations are included in “Interest, foreign
exchange and other” expenses. Revenues and expenses are translated at prevailing exchange rates during the year.
INCOME TAXES
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, future income tax assets and liabilities
are determined based on the temporary differences between the accounting basis and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. These
temporary differences are measured using the enacted or substantially enacted tax rates and laws expected to apply when these
differences reverse. Future tax benefits are recognized to the extent that realization of such benefits is considered more likely than
not. The effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in income tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period that includes
the substantive enactment date.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT TAX CREDITS
Investment tax credits related to research and development are recognized in earnings as a reduction of such expenses when the
Company has made the qualifying expenditures and there is reasonable assurance that the credits will be realized.
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS
The Company uses the fair value based approach of accounting for stock options and performance share units (PSUs) granted to its
employees and directors share units (DSUs) granted to its directors. Any consideration paid by plan participants in the exercise of
share options or purchase of stock is credited to capital stock. The contributed surplus component of stock-based compensation is
transferred to capital stock upon the issuance of common shares. PSUs are amortized over their vesting periods and remeasured at
each reporting period, until settlement, using the quoted market value. DSUs are accounted for in compensation expense at the time
of issuance. Their value is remeasured at each reporting period, using the quoted market value.
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company manages, from time to time, its foreign exchange exposure on anticipated net cash inflows, principally US dollars and
euros, through the use of options and forward contracts.
The Company may, from time to time, manage its exposure to commodity price risk associated with sales of lumber, pulp and newsprint
through the use of cash-settled hedge (swap) contracts. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading or speculative purposes.
The Company does not currently apply hedge accounting for these derivative financial instruments. These are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognized in income.
EMISSION RIGHTS AND TRADING
The Company is participating in European Emissions Trading, in which it has been allocated allowances to emit a fixed tonnage of carbon
dioxide in a fixed period of time.
Emission allowances are initially recorded as intangible assets with a credit to deferred income. They are recognized when the Company
is able to exercise control and are measured at fair value at the date of initial recognition. The balances are netted for reporting purposes.
The liability to deliver allowances is recognized based on actual emissions and will be settled using allowances on hand measured at
their carrying amount, with any excess emissions being measured at the market value of the allowances at period-end. The resulting
charge to cost of sales will be offset by the income from the original grant of the rights, together with income from the release or sale
of surplus rights.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
In January 2009, the CICA issued three new accounting standards: Section 1582, Business Combinations, Section 1601, Consolidated
Financial Statements, and Section 1602, Non-controlling Interest.
Section 1582 replaces former Section 1581 and establishes standards for the accounting of a business combination and is mostly
aligned with International Financial Reporting Standards 3 (IFRS 3), Business Combinations. This section specifies an expanded definition
of a business that most assets acquired and liabilities assumed will be measured at fair value and that acquisition costs will be recognized
as expenses.
Sections 1601 and 1602 together replace former Section 1600, Consolidated Financial Statements. Section 1601 establishes
standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. Section 1602, which converges with the requirements of
International Accounting Standard 27 (IAS 27), Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, establishes standards for accounting
of a non-controlling interest resulting from a business acquisition recognized as a distinct component of shareholders’ equity. Net
income will present the allocation between the controlling and non-controlling interest.
For the Company, these three standards will become effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after
September 25, 2011. As Section 1582 is applicable only to future business combinations, the Company does not expect these new
standards to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements prior to such acquisitions.
TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
In 2005, the Accounting Standards Board of Canada (AcSB) announced that accounting standards in Canada are to converge with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). On February 13, 2008, the AcSB confirmed that publicly accountable enterprises
would be required to apply, and report in accordance with IRFS, in full and without modification, effective in fiscal years beginning on
or after January 1, 2011, which, in the case of the Company, represents interim and fiscal year-end period beginning on
September 25, 2011 (the “Changeover” date). In the Company’s reporting in those periods following the Changeover date, the
Company will be required to present comparative data for equivalent periods in the previous fiscal year, making September 26, 2010,
the “Transition” date for the Company.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TRANSITION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)
IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP, but presents significant differences on certain recognition, measurement
and disclosure principles. In the period leading up to the Changeover, the AcSB will continue to issue accounting standards that are
better aligned with IFRS, as illustrated by Section 3031, Inventories, applicable for the Company as of February 29, 2008, and
Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, applicable for the Company as of September 27, 2009, as they respectively relate to
IAS 2, Inventories, and IAS 38, Intangible Assets, thus mitigating the impact of conversion to IFRS. Further, the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) will also continue to issue new, or amend existing accounting standards during the conversion period, and, as
a result, the final impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements of applying IFRS in full will only be entirely measurable
once all applicable IFRS standards at the final Changeover date are known.
The Company has developed a plan to convert its consolidated financial statements to IFRS. The Company has also set up an IFRS
dedicated team. The Company is monitoring the impact of the transition on its business practices, systems and internal controls over
financial reporting. A detailed analysis of the differences between IFRS and the Company’s accounting policies, as well as an assessment
of the impact of various alternatives are in progress. Changes in accounting policies are likely and may materially impact the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

3.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the June 2009 quarter, the Company sold its coated paper mill assets in St. Francisville, Louisiana, that had been indefinitely
idled since July 2007. Sales proceeds totalled US $16 million, made up of US $6 million cash and US $10 million notes bearing interest
at LIBOR plus 7%, repayable in three annual amounts of US $1 million starting in March 2011, two annual amounts of US $2 million
starting in March 2014 and a final payment of US $3 million in March 2016. As a result, the Company generated a pre-tax gain of
$16 million. Because the tax benefits had been accounted for prior to the Company’s recapitalization, the tax effect relating to this
transaction amounting to $5 million has been accounted for as contributed surplus. As this operation was the only coated paper facility
owned by the Predecessor, its financial results have been reclassified as discontinued operations.
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3.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Condensed balance sheet from discontinued operations related to the St. Francisville facility is as follows:
Sept. 26,
2009

Sept. 27,
2008

Inventories

$

–

$

2

Accounts payable and accrued charges
Accrued benefit liability - Pension benefit plans
Accrued benefit liability - Other benefit plans
Environmental obligations

$

3
20
13
–

$

3
20
14
4

$

36

$

41

Condensed earnings from discontinued operations related to the St. Francisville facility are as follows:
Company

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

Sales

$

–

$

–

$

2

Operating earnings (loss)
Foreign exchange loss
Income taxes

$

12
2
5

$

(6)
1
–

$

(4)
–
–

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations

$

5

$

(7)

$

(4)

Earnings (loss) per common share
from discontinued operations

$

0.05

$

(0.07)

$

(0.05)

Condensed cash flows from discontinued operations related to the St. Francisville facility are as follows:
Company

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

Cash flows from operating activities

$

(7)

$

(7)

$

(4)

Cash flows used by discontinued operations

$

(7)

$

(7)

$

(4)
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4.

INVENTORIES
Sept. 26,
2009

Finished goods
Logs and wood chips
Supplies and materials

Sept. 27,
2008

$

120
102
97

$

191
119
104

$

319

$

414

The reserves for net realizable values relating to logs and finished goods were as follows:
Sept. 26,
2009
Forest Products
Pulp
Paper

5.

Sept. 27,
2008

$

15
9
2

$

11
1
–

$

26

$

12

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

At September 26, 2009, the Company no longer had interest in joint ventures.
The September 27, 2008, consolidated balance sheet includes the Company’s proportionate share of assets and liabilities of
1387332 Ontario Limited (Marathon Pulp joint venture) and Temrex Forest Products Limited Partnership, each at 50%.
Sept. 26,
2009
Assets:
Current assets
Fixed assets and other

Liabilities and equity:
Current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Equity

Sept. 27,
2008

$

–
–

$

29
20

$

–

$

49

$

–
–
–
–

$

31
8
6
4

$

–

$

49
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5.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

For the year ended September 26, 2009, the consolidated statements of operations and cash flows include the Company’s
proportionate share of the revenues and expenses of 1387332 Ontario Limited (Marathon Pulp joint venture) (to January 31, 2009)
and Temrex Forest Products Limited Partnership (to August 29, 2009), each at 50%. For the seven-month period ended
September 27, 2008, the consolidated statements of operations and cash flows include the Company’s proportionate share of the
revenues and expenses of 1387332 Ontario Limited (Marathon Pulp joint venture), Temlam Inc. (to August 30, 2008), and Temrex
Forest Products Limited Partnership, each at 50%. For the five-month period ended February 29, 2008, the consolidated statements
of the Predecessor include the amounts related to AV Cell Inc., 1387332 Ontario Limited (Marathon Pulp joint venture), Temlam Inc.,
and Temrex Forest Products Limited Partnership, each at 50%:
Company

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

Sales
Expenses

$

43
44

$

92
96

$

58
62

Loss before income taxes, interest, and minority interest

$

(1)

$

(4)

$

(4)

Net loss

$

(1)

$

(8)

$

(6)

$

3
–
(2)

$

2
(1)
–

$

(4)
–
1

$

1

$

1

$

(3)

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating
Investing
Financing
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6.

FIXED ASSETS
Sept. 26,
2009

Cost
Land
Production buildings
and equipment:
Pulp mills
Newsprint and paper mills
Sawmills
Roads and timber holdings
Other buildings and equipment
Assets under construction

7.

$

$

–

521
49
107
7
20
18

67
7
39
–
3
–

$ 742

$ 116

$

$

20

Cost
$

20

454
42
68
7
17
18

485
51
102
5
29
22

626

$ 714

Net
book
value

Accumulated
depreciation
$

–

$

20

21
3
14
–
8
–

464
48
88
5
21
22

46

$ 668

Sept. 26,
2009

Sept. 27,
2008

$

OTHER ASSETS

Long-term loans to employees
Deferred pension costs
Investment tax credit and income taxes receivable

8.

Net
book
value

Accumulated
depreciation

20

Sept. 27,
2008

$

2
2
1

$

2
1
19

$

5

$

22

OPERATING BANK LOANS

On February 29, 2008, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a syndicate of lenders for a revolving operating credit facility
of $205 million maturing December 15, 2011, secured by all of the assets of the Company’s material North American subsidiaries.
This facility has a first priority charge over receivables and inventories having a carrying value of $417 million and a second priority
charge over the remainder of the assets having a carrying value of $568 million. Interest is calculated based either on prime rate
or banker’s acceptances rate. As at September 26, 2009, $96 million (2008 – nil) were drawn on this facility and $39 million
(2008 – $40 million) were reserved for letters of credit.
The French operations are supported by several mill specific “receivable factoring” agreements. As such, the borrowing base fluctuates
periodically, depending on shipments and cash receipts. At the end of September 2009, the amount available was $73 million
(2008 – $86 million), of which $51 million (2008 – $46 million) was unused.
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9.

LONG-TERM DEBT
Sept. 26,
2009

Tembec Inc.
6% unsecured notes, repayable in semi-annual instalments of $2 million
beginning March 30, 2008, with the balance due on September 30, 2012

$

Tembec Industries Inc.
Term loan US $300 million secured facility due on February 28, 2012,
bearing interest based on prime plus 6% or LIBOR plus 7%

12

Sept. 27,
2008

$

16

328

310

Tembec SAS
Unsecured term loans (€ 1 million), bearing interest at rates up to 1.5%,
repayable and maturing at various dates to December 2013

2

2

6% term loan (€ 8 million)

–

12

Other Tembec SAS obligations

4

5

30

27

Tembec Energie SAS
5.47% capital lease obligation (€ 5 million in 2009; € 6 million in 2008),
repayable in equal monthly instalments, maturing on December 9, 2014

8

9

Bioenerg SAS
5.5% secured term loan (€ 5 million), repayable in equal monthly instalments,
maturing May 10, 2020

8

–

1387332 Ontario Limited (Marathon Pulp joint venture)
(50% proportionate consolidation)

–

5

10

10

402

396

19

18

Tembec Envirofinance SAS
Unsecured term loans (€ 23 million), non-interest bearing,
repayable and maturing at various dates from June 2014 to June 2018

Other long-term obligations

Less current portion
$

383

$

378
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9.

LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

On February 29, 2008, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a syndicate of lenders for a non-revolving term loan of
US $300 million due February 28, 2012 secured by all of the assets of the Company’s material North American subsidiaries. This
facility has a first priority charge over all assets except receivables and inventories, where it has a second priority charge. Interest is
calculated based either on prime rate or LIBOR rate. The loan agreement contains restrictive covenants, including restrictions on the
incurrence of additional indebtedness, the payment of dividends, employee stock purchase plan payments, investments, the creation
of liens, sale and leaseback transactions, certain amalgamations, mergers, consolidations and sales of assets and certain transactions
with affiliates.
Instalments on consolidated long-term debt for the five years following September 26, 2009 are as follows:
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

$

19
11
339
9
8

10. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES AND CREDITS
Sept. 26,
2009
Accrued benefit liability – pension benefit plans

$

149

Sept. 27,
2008
$

163

46

45

Balance payable on acquisitions

1

1

Reforestation – BC operations

8

6

Environmental and other asset retirement obligations

4

3

Deferred government assistance

3

–

Other long-term commitments

6

6

Other

2

5

Accrued benefit liability – other benefit plans

$

219

$

229
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11. SHARE CAPITAL
AUTHORIZED
Unlimited number of common voting shares, without par value.
Unlimited number of non-voting Class A preferred shares issuable in series without par value, with other attributes to be determined
at time of issuance.
11,111,111 warrants convertible in equal amount of common shares and expiring on February 29, 2012. The warrants shall be
deemed to be exercised and shall be automatically converted into new common shares when the 20-day volume-weighted average
trading price of a single common share reaches or exceeds $12.00 or immediately prior to any transaction that would constitute
a change of control.
(a) Common shares and warrants issued
Sept. 26,
2009
Issued and fully paid:
100,000,000 common shares
11,094,340 (2008 – 11,095,839) warrants

Sept. 27,
2008

$

564
6

$

564
6

$

570

$

570

(b) Loss per share
The following table sets forth the computation of the basic and diluted loss per share:
Company

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

Net loss from continuing operations

$

(219)

$

(41)

$

(98)

Net loss

$

(214)

$

(48)

$

(102)

Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding

100,000,000

100,000,000

85,616,232

–

–

–

100,000,000

100,000,000

85,616,232

Dilutive effects:
Employees stock options
Weighted average number of diluted
common shares outstanding
Basic and diluted loss per share
from continuing operations

$

(2.19)

$

(0.41)

$

(1.14)

Basic and diluted loss per share

$

(2.14)

$

(0.48)

$

(1.19)
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
(b) Loss per share (continued)
The diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share as the dilutive factors result in a decrease in the loss per share.
(c) Stock-based compensation
Under the Long-Term Incentive Plan, the Company may, from time to time, grant options to its employees. The plan provides for
the issuance of common shares at an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s common shares on the date of
the grant. These options vest over a five-year period and expire ten years from the date of issue. No options have been granted
since 2006. No compensation expense was recorded for the seven months ended September 27, 2008, and for the year ended
September 26, 2009.
The following table summarizes the changes in options outstanding and the impact on weighted average per share exercise price
during the year:

Shares

Balance, beginning of year – old options
Options expired

–
–

Balance prior to recapitalization
Cancellation of old options

$

2009

2008

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Shares

–
–

3,668,019
(198,000)

–

–

3,470,019

6.28

–

–

(3,470,019)

6.28

107.41
132.70

202,649
(1,193)

107.56
132.25

$

6.28
6.18

Recapitalized options
Options expired

201,456
(16,425)

Balance, end of year

185,031

$

105.17

201,456

$

107.41

Exercisable, end of year

149,103

$

117.54

135,465

$

129.76
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
(c) Stock-based compensation (continued)
The following table summarizes the weighted average per share exercise price and the weighted remaining contractual life of the
options outstanding as at September 26, 2009:
Outstanding options

Exercisable options

Year granted

Number
of
options

Weighted
remaining
contractual
life

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Number
of
options

Weighted
average
exercise
price

2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006

17,495
4,089
12,087
8,741
14,079
77,440
51,100

0.31
1.29
2.12
3.20
4.16
5.43
6.15

$ 268.744
195.466
185.118
176.313
139.319
87.403
28.363

17,495
4,089
12,087
8,741
14,079
61,952
30,660

$ 268.744
195.466
185.118
176.313
139.319
87.403
28.363

185,031

4.63

$ 105.165

149,103

$ 117.539

During fiscal year 2006, the Predecessor established a performance share units (PSUs) plan for designated senior executives.
Under the terms of this plan, senior executives may be eligible to an annual incentive remuneration paid to them in the form of
PSUs. Each PSU is equivalent in value to a common share of the Company and is notionally credited with dividends when
shareholders receive dividends from the Company. A PSU is paid to an executive following a three-year vesting period and is
payable in the form of either cash or common shares of the Company, which are purchased on the open market. As at
September 26, 2009 and September 27, 2008, 93,485 PSUs were outstanding.
During fiscal 2009, the Company replaced the PSU plan with a performance-conditioned restricted share unit (PCRSU) plan.
Vesting of the PCRSUs is based entirely on the attainment of pre-established performance objectives over a three-year period.
As at September 26, 2009, none of the 2,885,000 PCRSUs issued in fiscal 2009 have vested, 95,000 PCRSUs were cancelled
as a result of participant departures, and 2,790,000 remain outstanding.
Non-employee directors of the Company are also given the option to receive part of their annual retainer, meeting fees and awards
under the Directors’ Share Award Plan in the form of DSUs. A DSU is paid to a director upon termination of Board service and is
payable in the form of cash. As at September 26, 2009 and September 27, 2008, 411,222 DSUs were outstanding and no
significant amount was payable under this plan.
Under the Employee Share Purchase Plan, employees may purchase common shares of the Company up to 10% of their base
salary or wage. The Company contributes 25% of the amount invested by the employee if the shares are held for a minimum
period of time. Purchases of common shares under this plan occur on the open market. In 2009 and 2008, the cost of share
purchases for the benefit of the employees was insignificant.
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12. GUARANTEES, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
GUARANTEES
The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have granted irrevocable letters of credit, issued by high rated financial institutions, to
third parties to indemnify them in the event the Company does not perform its contractual obligations. The Company has not recorded
any additional liability with respect to these guarantees, as the Company does not expect to make any payments in excess of what is
recorded in the Company’s financial statements. The letters of credit mature at various dates in fiscal 2010.
LUMBER DUTIES AND EXPORT TAXES
Effective October 12, 2006, the governments of Canada and the United States implemented an agreement for the settlement of the
softwood lumber dispute. The Softwood Lumber Agreement (SLA) requires that an export tax be collected by the Government of
Canada, based on the price and volume of lumber shipped. The SLA had an effective date of October 12, 2006, at which time the
U.S. Department of Commerce (USDOC) revoked all existing countervailing and antidumping duty orders on softwood lumber shipped
to the U.S. from Canada.
COMMITMENTS
The Company has entered into operating leases for property, plant and equipment for expected cash outflows of $23 million. Outflows
for the five years following September 26, 2009 are as follows:
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

$

6
5
5
2
1

CONTINGENCIES
Tembec is party to claims and lawsuits, which are being contested. Management believes that the outcome of these claims and lawsuits
will not have a material adverse effect on Tembec’s financial condition, earnings or liquidity.

13. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Company

Fixed assets
Deferred development costs and other

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

$

73
–

$

51
–

$

69
3

$

73

$

51

$

72
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14. OTHER ITEMS
2009
RESTRUCTURING AND ASSET IMPAIRMENT CHARGES
During 2009, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $2 million related to the newsprint facility in Pine Falls, Manitoba.
These assets are included in the paper segment.
On February 13, 2009, Marathon Pulp Inc. (MPI) filed a notice of intention to make a proposal under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency
Act. As a result of these filings, the Company concluded that, based on Canadian GAAP, it had lost joint control over MPI and ceased
to apply the proportionate consolidation method to account for its 50% interest in MPI. As of the most recent reporting date of
January 31, 2009, the Company’s proportionate share of net liabilities exceeded the net assets by $8 million, resulting in a gain from
the change in accounting for this investment. The Company absorbed a charge of $4 million relating to trade amounts owing from
MPI. The net effect overall was a $4 million gain.
The following table provides information on the assets and liabilities at the date on which the Company ceased to consolidate the
accounts:
Marathon Pulp Inc.
Current assets
Long-term assets
Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities

$

14
6
(18)
(10)

Net assets deficiency

$

(8)

Current assets

$

4

Net gain recognized upon deconsolidation

$

(4)

Company

During the March 2009 quarter, the Company announced the permanent closure of the Mattawa, Ontario, sawmill. The facility had
been idled since July 2008. The Company recorded a charge of $2 million relating to severance and other relating items.
Also during the March 2009 quarter, the Company announced the reduction of a number of staff positions and recorded a charge
of $2 million for related severance costs.
Also during the March 2009 quarter, the Company settled certain product liabilities claims relating to a U.S. chemical subsidiary.
Costs associated with this claim, net of insurance proceeds, are estimated at $1 million.
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14. OTHER ITEMS (CONTINUED)
2009 (CONTINUED)
GAIN ON LAND SALES AND OTHER
During the September 2009 quarter, the Company recorded a net gain of $5 million on the sale of its 50% equity interest in
Temrex Forest Products LP (Temrex). The Temrex operation included two sawmills in the Gaspé, Quebec region.
During the March 2009 quarter, the Company recorded a net gain of $1 million on the sale of a previously written-off paper machine.
2008
RESTRUCTURING AND ASSET IMPAIRMENT CHARGES
On September 15, 2008, Temlam Inc. and Jager Building Systems Inc., a subsidiary of Temlam Inc., made voluntary assignments in
bankruptcy. As a result of these filings, the Company concluded that, based on Canadian GAAP, it had lost joint control over Temlam Inc.
and ceased to apply the proportionate consolidation method to account for its 50% interest in Temlam Inc. As of the most recent
reporting date of August 30, 2008, the Company’s proportionate share of net liabilities exceeded the net assets by $10 million,
resulting in a gain from the change in accounting for this investment. The Company absorbed a charge of $6 million relating to trade
amounts owing from Temlam Inc. and Jager Building Systems Inc. The Company also recognized a $1 million obligation to a creditor of
Jager Building Systems Inc. The net effect overall was a $3 million gain.
The following table provides information on the assets and liabilities at the date the Company ceased to consolidate the accounts:
Temlam Inc.
Current assets
Long-term assets
Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities

$

19
30
(16)
(43)

Net assets deficiency

$

(10)

Current assets
Other obligations

$

6
1

Related Company accounts

$

7

Net gain recognized upon deconsolidation

$

(3)

Company
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14. OTHER ITEMS (CONTINUED)
2008 (CONTINUED)
RESTRUCTURING AND ASSET IMPAIRMENT CHARGES (CONTINUED)
In October 2008, the Company assumed the rank of secured lender to Temlam by effecting a payment of $22 million. The Company
has recorded a current receivable of $22 million representing the expected recovery value of the Temlam assets and is anticipated to
be recovered within one year.
During the February 2008 period, the Predecessor recorded a non-cash charge of $1 million relating to the write-down of fixed assets
at its Temiscaming facility. As well, $2 million of mill closure provisions were reversed.
During the December 2007 quarter, the Predecessor recorded a non-cash charge of $2 million relating to the write-down of its
investment in the failed Gaspesia project. As well, $1 million of mill closure provisions were reversed.
GAIN ON LAND SALES AND OTHER
During the June 2008 quarter, the Company recorded a net gain of $2 million on the sale of its 20% of the 25% equity interest it held
in the issued and outstanding shares of both AV Nackawic Inc. and AV Cell Inc.
During the December 2007 quarter, the Predecessor completed the sale of a number of land properties and recorded a gain of
$16 million. As well, the Predecessor reduced its participation in the equity of AV Cell Inc. from 50% to 25% and recorded a gain of
$4 million. The Predecessor also ceased applying the proportionate consolidation method to this investment and began applying the
equity method.
The following table provides an analysis of the other items by business segment of the Company:
Year ended September 26, 2009
Forest
Products
Gain on sales – other
Other
Severance, other labour-related
and idling costs

$

(5)
–

Pulp
$

2
$

(3)

–
(4)

Paper Chemicals
$

–
$

(4)

–
2

$

–
$

2

–
1

Corporate
and other
$

–
$

1

(1)
–

Consolidated
$

2
$

1

(6)
(1)
4

$

(3)
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14. OTHER ITEMS (CONTINUED)
Seven months ended September 27, 2008
Forest
Products
Investments
Other

Corporate
and other

Consolidated

$

–
(3)

$

(2)
–

$

(2)
(3)

$

(3)

$

(2)

$

(5)

The following table provides an analysis of the other items by business segment of the Predecessor:
Five months ended February 29, 2008
Forest
Products
Investments
Gain on land sales
Other

Pulp

Paper

Corporate
and other

Consolidated

$

–
(16)
(2)

$

(4)
–
1

$

–
–
(1)

$

2
–
–

$

(2)
(16)
(2)

$

(18)

$

(3)

$

(1)

$

2

$

(20)

The mill closure provisions are no longer significant and therefore not reported.

15. INTEREST, FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND OTHER
Company

Interest on long-term debt
Interest on short-term debt

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

$

Amortization of deferred financing costs
Derivative financial instruments gain
Exchange gain on conversion of
integrated foreign subsidiaries
Other foreign exchange items
Bank charges and other financing expenses

$

33
4

$

20
4

$

27
4

37

24

31

–
(2)

–
(2)

2
–

(5)
(11)
3

–
(9)
–

(4)
2
1

(15)

(11)

1

22

$

13

$

32
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16. INCOME TAXES
The tax effects of the significant components of temporary differences that give rise to future income tax assets and liabilities are as
follows:
Sept. 26,
2009
Future income tax assets:
Non-capital loss carryforwards and pool of deductible
scientific research and development expenditures
Fixed assets
Employee future benefits
Financing charges
Other
Valuation allowance

$

Future income tax liabilities:
Other
Net future income tax liabilities

$

394
23
63
12
14
(490)

Sept. 27,
2008

$

328
44
67
17
24
(465)

16

15

(16)

(17)

–

$

(2)

Certain subsidiaries have accumulated the following losses and deductions for income tax purposes, which may be carried forward to
reduce taxable income and taxes payable in future years.

Non-capital loss carried forward for Canadian subsidiaries
Non-capital loss carried forward for foreign subsidiaries
Pool of deductible scientific research and experimental development

$

Amounts

Expiring
dates

932
119
362

2010 to 2029
2024 to 2029
Unlimited
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16. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)
The reconciliation of income taxes calculated at the statutory rate to the actual tax provision is as follows:
Company

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes and
minority interest

$

(221)

$

(36)

$

(92)

Income tax based on combined federal and provincial
income tax rates of 30.9% (2008 – 31.9%)

$

(68)

$

(12)

$

(29)

Increase (decrease) resulting from:
Future income taxes adjustment due to rate enactments
Change in valuation allowance
Difference in statutory income tax rate
Permanent differences:
Non-taxable portion of exchange loss (gain)
on long-term debt
Non-deductible (taxable) exchange loss (gain) on
conversion of integrated foreign subsidiaries
Other permanent differences

–
62
–

–
17
(3)

4
35
2

2

2

(2)

3
–

1
–

(1)
(3)

67

17

35

Income tax expense (recovery)

$

(1)

$

5

$

6

Income taxes:
Current
Future

$

–
(1)

$

4
1

$

–
6

Income tax expense (recovery)

$

(1)

$

5

$

6

17. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLANS
The Company contributes to defined contribution pension plans, provincial and labour sponsored pension plans, group registered
retirement savings plans, deferred profit sharing plans, and 401(k) plans. The pension expense under these plans is equal to the
Company’s contribution. The 2009 pension expense was $8 million ($6 million for the seven-month period ended September 27,
2008, and $5 million for the five-month period ended February 29, 2008).
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS
The Company has several defined benefit pension plans. Non-unionized employees in Canada joining the Company after January 1,
2000, participate in defined contribution pension plans. Some of the defined benefit pension plans are contributory. The pension
expense and the obligation related to the defined benefit pension plans are actuarially determined using management’s most probable
assumptions.
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17. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
OTHER EMPLOYEE FUTURE DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
The Company offers post-retirement life insurance, health care and dental care plans to some of its retirees. The Company offers
post-employment health care and dental care plans to disabled employees. The Company also assumes post-employment life insurance
coverage of some of its disabled employees.
The post-retirement and post-employment benefit expenses and the obligations related to the defined benefit plans are actuarially
determined using management’s most probable assumptions.
Actuarial valuations of these plans for accounting purposes are conducted on a triennial basis unless there are significant changes
affecting the plans. The latest actuarial valuations were conducted as at April 1, 2007 or May 1, 2009.
The post-retirement and post-employment benefit plans are unfunded.
DESCRIPTION OF FUND ASSETS
The assets of the registered defined benefit pension plans are held by an independent trustee and accounted for separately in the
Company’s pension funds. Based on the fair value of assets held at June 30, 2009, the defined benefit pension plan assets were
comprised of 1% (1% in 2008) in cash and short-term investments, 5% (6% in 2008) in real estate, 44% (45% in 2008) in bonds
and 50% (48% in 2008) in Canadian, U.S. and foreign equity.
FUNDING POLICY
The Company’s funding policy for registered defined benefit pension plans is to contribute annually the amount required to provide for
benefits earned in the year and to fund past service obligations over periods not exceeding those permitted by the applicable regulatory
authorities. Actuarial valuations for funding purposes are conducted on a triennial basis, unless required earlier by pension legislation
or as deemed appropriate by management from time to time. The latest funding actuarial valuations were conducted for eight plans
on December 31, 2008, five plans on December 31, 2007, and three plans on December 31, 2006. The two pension plans related
to discontinued operations were last valued on January 1, 2009.
INVESTMENT POLICY
The Company follows a disciplined investment strategy, which provides diversification of investments by asset class, foreign currency,
sector or company. The Corporate Governance and Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors has approved an investment
policy that establishes long-term asset mix targets based on a review of historical returns achieved by world-wide investment markets.
Investment managers may deviate from these targets to the extent permitted by the investment policy. Their performance is evaluated
in relation to the market performance on the target mix.
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17. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY’S DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS IN AGGREGATE
The Company measures its accrued benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes as at June 30 of each
year. The accrued benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes were also measured as at February 29,
2008, as required by fresh start accounting.
The following tables present the change in the accrued benefit obligation for the defined benefit plans as calculated by independent
actuaries and the change in the fair value of plan assets:
Change in accrued benefit obligations for defined benefit plans:
Pension plans

Accrued benefit obligation, at
beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Employee contributions
Benefits paid
Divestitures
Plan amendments
Actuarial loss (gain)
Foreign exchange rate changes
and other adjustments
Obligation being settled
Post-employment and other

Other benefit plans

Company Company

Predecessor

Company Company

Predecessor

Seven
Year
months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, Sept. 27,
2009
2008

Five
months
ended
Feb. 29,
2008

Seven
Year
months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, Sept. 27,
2009
2008

Five
months
ended
Feb. 29,
2008

$

907 $ 920
15
10
49
29
3
2
(56)
(38)
(44)
–
–
–
(41)
(23)
7
(12)
–

$

7
–
–

882
6
20
1
(25)
–
1
33

$

59
1
3
–
(3)
(3)
(4)
–

$

–
–
2

2
–
–

58
–
2
–
(1)
–
8
(9)

$

–
–
1

53
–
1
–
(1)
–
3
1
–
–
1

Accrued benefit obligation, at
end of year

$

828

$ 907

$

920

$

55

$

59

$

58

Accrued benefit obligation, at
end of year – discontinued
operations

$

115

$ 110

$

107

$

6

$

7

$

14
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17. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY’S DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS IN AGGREGATE (CONTINUED)
Change in fair value of plan assets for defined benefit plans:
Pension plans

Fair value of defined benefit plan
assets, at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Benefits paid
Divestitures
Foreign exchange rate changes
and other adjustments
Settlement payments

Other benefit plans

Company Company

Predecessor

Company Company

Predecessor

Seven
Year
months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, Sept. 27,
2009
2008

Five
months
ended
Feb. 29,
2008

Seven
Year
months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, Sept. 27,
2009
2008

Five
months
ended
Feb. 29,
2008

$

736 $ 726
(71)
18
38
23
3
2
(56)
(38)
(36)
–
7
(15)

Fair value of defined benefit plan
assets, at end of year

$

606

Fair value of defined benefit plan
assets, at end of year –
discontinued operations

$

73

$

5
–

751
(16)
15
1
(25)
–

$

–
–
3
–
(3)
–

$

–
–

–
–

–
–
1
–
(1)
–

$

–
–

–
–
1
–
(1)
–
–
–

$ 736

$

726

$

–

$

–

$

–

$

$

87

$

–

$

–

$

–

87

FUNDED STATUS
The following table presents the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the actuarially determined accrued benefit
obligation as at June 30, 2009, June 30, 2008, and February 29, 2008 for defined benefit plans. This difference is also referred to as
either the deficit or surplus, as the case may be, or the funded status of the plans.
The table further reconciles the amount of surplus or deficit (funded status) to the net amount recognized in the consolidated balance
sheets. The difference between the funded status and the net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets, in accordance
with Canadian GAAP, represents the portion of the surplus or deficit not yet recognized for accounting purposes. This approach allows
for a gradual recognition of changes in accrued benefit obligations and plan performance over the expected average remaining life of
the employee group covered by the plans as described in note 2.
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17. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
FUNDED STATUS (CONTINUED)
Reconciliation of funded status for defined benefit plans:
Pension plans
Sept. 26,
2009
Fair value of plan assets
Accrued benefit obligation

$

606
(828)

Sept. 27,
2008
$

(222)
(42)

Plan deficit
Plan deficit – discontinued operations
Employer contribution after
measurement date (June 30)
Unamortized past service costs
Unamortized net actuarial loss (gain)

5
–
50

736
(907)

Other benefit plans
Sept. 26,
2009
$

–
(55)

Sept. 27,
2008
$

–
(59)

(171)
(23)

(55)
(6)

(59)
(7)

9
–
(20)

1
3
(8)

1
8
(9)

Accrued benefit liability

$

(167)

$

(182)

$

(59)

$

(59)

Accrued benefit liability – discontinued operations

$

(20)

$

(20)

$

(13)

$

(14)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets for defined benefit plans:
Pension plans
Sept. 26,
2009
Deferred pension costs
Accrued benefit liability

$

$

(167)

Accrued benefit liability
Accrued benefit liability – discontinued operations

2
(169)

Sept. 27,
2008

$

(20)

1
(183)

Other benefit plans
Sept. 26,
2009
$

(20)

$

(59)

(182)
$

–
(59)

Sept. 27,
2008

$

(13)

–
(59)
(59)

$

(14)

The accrued benefit obligations in excess of fair value of plan assets at year-end with respect to defined benefit plans that are not
fully funded are as follows:
Pension plans
Sept. 26,
2009
Fair value of plan assets
Accrued benefit obligations

$

$

(222)

Plan deficit
Plan deficit – discontinued operations

605
(827)

Sept. 27,
2008

$

(42)

682
(855)

Other benefit plans
Sept. 26,
2009
$

(23)

$

(55)

(173)
$

–
(55)

Sept. 27,
2008

$

(6)

–
(59)
(59)

$

(7)
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17. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
COMPONENTS OF NET PERIODIC COST FOR DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
Components of net periodic benefit cost for defined benefit pension plans:
Company

Current service cost
Interest cost
Actual return on plan assets
Actuarial loss (gain)
Settlement loss
Plan amendments and other

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

$

Net expense (income) before adjustments to
recognize the long-term nature of the plans

15
49
71
(41)
3
–

$

97

$

6
20
16
33
–
1

(2)

76

(13)

(38)

41

23

(31)

–

–

(1)

(119)

Difference between expected and actual return on plan assets
Difference between net actuarial loss (gain)
and actuarial loss (gain)
Difference between amortization of past service costs for the
year and actual plan amendments for the year

10
29
(18)
(23)
–
–

Net periodic benefit cost

$

19

$

8

$

6

Net periodic benefit cost – discontinued operations

$

1

$

–

$

–
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17. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
COMPONENTS OF NET PERIODIC COST FOR DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED)
Components of net periodic benefit cost for other defined benefit plans:
Company

Current service cost
Interest cost
Post-employment
Plan amendments and other
Actuarial loss (gain)

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

$

Net expense before adjustments to recognize
the long-term nature of the plans
Difference between amortization of past service
costs for the year and actual plan
amendment for the period
Difference between net actuarial loss (gain)
and actuarial loss (gain)

1
2
2
(4)
–

$

–
2
1
8
(9)

$

–
1
1
3
1

1

2

6

5

(8)

(3)

(1)

9

(1)

Net periodic benefit cost

$

5

$

3

$

2

Net periodic benefit cost – discontinued operations

$

–

$

–

$

–

ASSUMPTIONS
Weighted average significant assumptions for defined benefit pension plans:
Company

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

Accrued benefit obligation at end of year:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

5.73%
2.61%

5.56%
3.03%

5.35%
3.03%

Net periodic benefit cost for the year:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Expected long-term return on assets

5.56%
3.03%
6.77%

5.35%
3.03%
7.29%

5.55%
3.03%
7.27%
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17. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)
Weighted average significant assumptions for other defined benefit plans:
Company

Company

Predecessor

Year Seven months
ended
ended
Sept. 26, 2009 Sept. 27, 2008

Five months
ended
Feb. 29, 2008

Accrued benefit obligation at end of year:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

5.48%
2.50%

5.56%
3.00%

5.39%
3.00%

Benefit cost for the year:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

5.56%
3.00%

5.39%
3.00%

5.66%
3.00%

Assumed healthcare cost trend rate at end of year:
Initial healthcare cost trend
Annual rate of decline in trend rate
Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate

8.39%
0.50%
5.00%

8.89%
0.53%
5.00%

9.06%
1.00%
5.00%

Effect of change in healthcare cost trend rate (1% increase)
Total of service cost and interest cost
Accrued benefit obligation

$
$

–
4

$
$

–
4

$
$

–
4

Effect of change in healthcare cost trend rate (1% decrease)
Total of service cost and interest cost
Accrued benefit obligation

$
$

–
(3)

$
$

–
(4)

$
$

–
(4)

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
FAIR VALUE
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments, accounts receivable, operating bank loans
and accounts payable and accrued charges approximates their fair values because of the near-term maturity of those instruments.
The fair value of long-term debt which is not actively traded, and balance payable on acquisition of companies has been determined
based on management’s best estimate of fair value to renegotiate these financial instruments with similar terms at the respective
year-end dates.
The carrying value and the fair value of long-term debt and balance payable on acquisition of companies are as follows:
Sept. 26,
2009
Carrying value
Fair value

$

403
403

Sept. 27,
2008
$

397
397
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OVERVIEW
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk
• Foreign currency rate risk
• Interest rate risk
• Commodity price and operational risk
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management policy. The
policy defines the method by which the Company manages its risk through properly and prudently administering the Company’s
financial assets, liabilities and derivatives. Internal Audit measures the adequacy of the business control systems through the execution
of an Internal Audit Plan approved by the Audit Committee.
CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
Credit risk arises from the possibility that entities to which the Company sells products may experience financial difficulty and be
unable to fulfill their contractual obligations. The Company does not have a significant exposure to any individual customer or
counterparty. As required in the Risk Management Policy, the Company reviews a new customer’s credit history before extending
credit and conducts regular reviews of its existing customers’ credit performance. All credit limits are subject to evaluation and revision
at any time based on changes in levels of creditworthiness and must be reviewed at least once per year. Sales orders cannot be
processed unless a credit limit has been properly approved. The Company may require payment guarantees, such as letters of credit,
or obtains credit insurance coverage. Bad debt write-offs have been insignificant in the past. The allowance for doubtful accounts for
the Company as at September 26, 2009, was $2 million (2008 – $4 million).
EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date was:
Sept. 26,
2009
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

$

300
105

Sept. 27,
2008
$

380
113
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade accounts receivable as at September 26, 2009, by geographical region was as follows:
Sept. 26,
2009
$

Canada
United States
Pacific Rim and India
United Kingdom, Europe and other

23
54
31
97

Sept. 27,
2008
$

40
85
30
132

Allowance for doubtful accounts

205
(2)

287
(4)

Trade receivables net
Investment in Temlam (note 14)
Other receivables including input tax credits

203
23
57

283
22
66

$

Accounts receivable

283

$

371

The aging of trade accounts receivable was as follows:
September 26, 2009
Gross
Not past due
Past due 0-30 days
Past due 31-60 days
Past due 61-90 days
More than 90 days

September 27, 2008

Allowance

Gross

Allowance

$

179
20
4
–
2

$

–
–
–
–
2

$

243
34
5
1
4

$

–
–
–
–
4

$

205

$

2

$

287

$

4

The movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable in respect to trade accounts receivable was as follows:
Sept. 26,
2009

Sept. 27,
2008

Opening balance
Bad debt recognized (written off)

$

4
(2)

$

3
1

Ending balance

$

2

$

4
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company
has an objective of maintaining liquidity equal to 12 months of capital expenditures, interest and principal repayments and seasonal
working capital requirements, which would require approximately $150 million to $200 million of liquidity.
EXPOSURE TO LIQUIDITY RISK
A liquidity reserve in the form of cash and undrawn revolving credit facilities is maintained to assist in the solvency and financial flexibility
of the Company. Liquidity reserves as at September 26, 2009, totalled $170 million (2008 – $319 million). Repayment of amounts
due within one year may also be funded by normal collection of current trade accounts receivable and cash on hand.
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of netting
agreements:
September 26, 2009

Secured bank loans
Unsecured loans
Operating bank loans
Trade and others

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

6 months
or less

6-12
months

1-2
years

2-5
years

More than
5 years

$ 352
50
118
281

$ 414
59
118
281

$ 14
5
118
281

$ 14
7
–
–

$ 28
11
–
–

$ 350
24
–
–

$ 8
12
–
–

$ 801

$ 872

$ 418

$ 21

$ 39

$ 374

$ 20

FOREIGN CURRENCY RATE RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and long-term debt that are denominated in a currency other than the
respective functional currencies of foreign and domestic operations, primarily the Canadian dollar and euro. The currencies in which
these transactions are primarily denominated are the Canadian dollar, US dollar and euro.
The Company’s revenues for most of its products are affected by fluctuations in the relative exchange rates of the Canadian dollar,
the US dollar and the euro. The prices for many products, including those sold in Canada and Europe, are generally driven by
US $ reference prices of similar products. The Company generates approximately $1.5 billion of US $ denominated sales annually from
its Canadian and European operations. As a result, any decrease in the value of US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar and the euro
reduces the amount of revenues realized on sales in local currency. In addition, since business units purchase the majority of their
production inputs in local currency, fluctuations in foreign exchange can significantly affect the unit’s relative cost position when
compared to competing manufacturing sites in other currency jurisdictions. This could result in the unit’s inability to maintain its
operations during period of low prices and/or demand.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOREIGN CURRENCY RATE RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
Based on 2010 planned sales volumes and prices, the following table illustrates the impact of a 1% change in the value of the
US dollar versus the Canadian dollar and the euro. For illustrative purposes, an increase of 1% in the value of the US dollar is assumed.
A decrease would have the opposite effects of those shown below:
Sales increase
Cost of sales increase

$

Gross margin
Loss on US $ debt translation
Pre-tax earnings increase

15
2
13
3

$

10

Direct US $ purchases of raw materials, supplies and services provided a partial offset to the impact on sales. This does not include
the potential indirect impact of currency on the cost of items purchased in the local currency.
Interest expense on the Company’s US $ denominated debt provides a small offset to its US $ exposure. To further reduce the impact
of fluctuations in the value of the US dollar, the Company has adopted a policy which allows for hedging up to 50% of its anticipated
US $ receipts for up to 36 months in duration. The Company does not currently hold any significant foreign exchange contracts.
INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates.
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
As at September 26, 2009, if interest rates had been 100 basis points higher (lower), related to the US $300-million term loan,
interest would have increased (decreased) by US $3 million annually.
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
COMMODITY PRICE AND OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s financial performance is dependent on the selling prices of its products. The markets for most lumber, pulp and paper
products are cyclical and are influenced by a variety of factors. These factors include periods of excess product supply due to industry
capacity additions, periods of decreased demand due to weak general economic activity, inventory de-stocking by customers, and
fluctuations in currency exchange rates. During periods of low prices, the Company is subject to reduced revenues and margins,
resulting in substantial declines in profitability and possibly net losses. The Company may periodically purchase lumber, pulp and
newsprint price hedges to mitigate the impact of price volatility. The Company did not hold any significant product price hedges at
September 26, 2009. At September 27, 2008, the Company held lumber futures equal to approximately 3% of its annual SPF lumber
capacity. The fair value of the contracts was $1 million.
The manufacturing activities conducted by the Company’s operations are subject to a number of risks, including availability and price
of fibre and competitive prices for purchased energy and raw materials. To mitigate the impact of price fluctuations, the Company
may periodically purchase hedges. The Company does not currently hold any significant hedges.

19. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
It is the Company’s objective to manage its capital to ensure adequate capital resources exist to support operations while maintaining
its business growth. The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Company manages the capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk of characteristics of the underlying assets.
The Company monitors capital on the basis of net debt to total capitalization ratio. Net debt is calculated as a total debt (long-term
debt plus bank indebtedness/operating lines) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capitalization includes net debt plus future income
taxes, other long-term liabilities, shareholders’ equity, deferred credits and other.
The Company’s strategy is to maintain a net debt to total capitalization ratio of 40% or less. The objective is to keep a strong balance
sheet and maintain the ability of the Company to access capital markets at favourable rates. The debt to total capitalization ratio for
the Company as at September 26, 2009 and September 27, 2008 was 42% and 30%, respectively.

20. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
CIT Business Credit Canada Inc. (CITBCC) is the agent of the Company’s $205-million revolving operating credit facility. CITBCC is
jointly owned by Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIT Group, Inc. (CIT). On November 1, 2009, CIT filed under Chapter 11
bankruptcy protection from creditors in the United States and announced a pre-packaged plan of reorganization for CIT and a subsidiary
that will restructure its debt and streamline its capital structure; none of CIT’s operating subsidiaries were included in this filing.
While the Company understands that CITBCC has separate and adequate funding, the Company had considered it prudent to draw
under this facility. A further amount of $45 million was drawn in July 2009. CITBCC’s commitment is $100 million of the $205-million
facility. Failure by any lender to fund its rateable share does not relieve the other lenders of their obligations to fund their rateable
shares.

21. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain 2008 comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the financial statement presentation adopted for 2009.
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STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
The common shares and the warrants of Tembec Inc. are listed
on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbols TMB and
TMB.WT, respectively.
NUMBER OF SHARES
As at September 26, 2009, there were 100,000,000 Tembec
common shares outstanding.
TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
Our transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company of Canada,
can assist you with a variety of shareholder related services,
including changes of address and lost share certificates.
Computershare Trust Company of Canada
Customer Service
1500 University Street
Suite 700
Montreal, Quebec H3A 3S8
Canada
Tel.: 1-800-564-6253
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Tembec Inc. will
be held on Thursday, January 28, 2010, at 11:00 a.m., Eastern
time, at:
Le Centre Sheraton Montreal
1201 Boulevard René-Lévesque West
Montreal, Quebec H3B 2L7
Canada
Tel.: 514-878-2000
An archived version of the webcast of the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders will be available on Tembec’s website
after the Meeting.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION MAY BE OBTAINED FROM
Tembec Inc.
Communications and Public Affairs Department
10 chemin Gatineau
P.O. Box 5000
Temiscaming, Quebec J0Z 3R0
Canada
Tel.: 819-627-4387
Fax: 819-627-1178
Tembec files all mandatory information with Canadian securities
regulatory authorities and this information is available from
Tembec upon request.
HEAD OFFICE
Tembec Inc.
800 René-Lévesque Blvd. West
Suite 1050
Montreal, Quebec H3B 1X9
Canada
Tel.: 514-871-0137
Fax: 514-397-0896
www.tembec.com
CORPORATE OFFICE
Tembec Inc.
10 chemin Gatineau
P.O. Box 5000
Temiscaming, Quebec J0Z 3R0
Canada
Tel.: 819-627-4387
Fax: 819-627-1178
www.tembec.com
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